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THE ROLE OF THE FRC

MIFEHRFBE

To conduct independent investigations into possible auditing and/or reporting
irregularities in relation to listed entities

MABLETERT AR R/ KRR ANTE(TAREBIE

To enquire into possible non-compliance with accounting requirements on the
part of listed entities
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INTEGRITY
E2AE

One of the core values of the FRC, integrity refers to the ethical
commitment that is so essential for maintaining well-trusted financial FRC i==e
markets. High quality financial reporting by auditors, reporting ' ;
accountants, and preparers of financial statements contributes to
integrity. On its part, the FRC upholds integrity through its rigorous
oversight of the financial reporting of listed entities in Hong Kong.
Through its independent investigations into possible auditing and
reporting irregularities and its enquiries into possible hon-compliance
with accounting requirements on the part of listed entities, the FRC
acts to reinforce investor confidence in the integrity of Hong Kong’s
financial markets.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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Integrity is one of our core values. The FRC Members
and staff are united in their adherence to the highest
ethical standards across our activities.

BEEARNZLEBEZ — ARKERBEIATL
EE—BERNFRERKINEEZRE:

Dr John Poon, BBS, JP Chairman
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The series of high-profile financial scandals involving large listed companies
in the past two decades had set off alarm bells among investors around
the world. These scandals revolved around the key issue of integrity, with
doubts being raised in the minds of many investors about the fundamental
integrity of the global capital markets.

At its simplest level, integrity refers to honesty and fairness. But the
term also comprises commitment to best practice and maintaining the
highest standards of professional behaviour. Integrity should encompass
every participant within the entire market, with all working together and
sharing a set of common ethical principles. Without integrity, fair dealing
cannot be guaranteed and investor confidence will fail — a fact that is
especially significant for Hong Kong, with one of the world’s largest, most
sophisticated, and most trusted financial markets. Maintaining the highest
standards of professionalism and ethical behaviour among our auditors
is thus absolutely fundamental to the integrity of the Hong Kong financial
market.
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Integrity is a core value that sits at the heart of the Financial Reporting
Council (FRC), as it works to foster and protect the integrity of the Hong
Kong market. The FRC and its staff are united in adhering to the highest
ethical standards with integrity underpinning our work over the past years.
Today, with increasing demand from investors for more effective regulation
of the auditing profession, the importance of objectivity, transparency,
consistency and accountability in any effective regulatory regime is more
widely recognized than ever before.

Development of auditor regulatory reform

A growing recognition of the need to increase transparency and regulatory
independence in the audit sector lies behind the reform proposals
introduced by the Government in 2014 aimed at improving the regulatory
regime for listed entity auditors in Hong Kong. Here at the FRC, we have
from the outset embraced an unwavering commitment to taking the reform
process forward, and seeing it through to successful fruition.

As the Chairman of the FRC, | always believe that the FRC could contribute
significantly to the auditor regulatory reform. As a first step, the FRC
commissioned Deloitte LLP (UK) to carry out a detailed comparative study
of international best practice in auditor regulation. The study considered
auditor regulatory practices in different countries in the light of the European
Commission (EC) and the International Forum of Independent Audit
Regulators (IFIAR) requirements, and noted that over 40 jurisdictions,
including China, were already members of the IFIAR and/or an EC
equivalent on the basis of their auditor regulatory regimes.

Following the publication of the above report, in June 2014, the
Government issued its consultation paper containing proposals to improve
the regulatory regime for listed entity auditors in Hong Kong. As part of that
process, the FRC submitted its own responses to the consultation paper.

In June 2015, the Government published the consultation conclusions
arising from the 2014 consultation process (Consultation Conclusions).
These conclusions broadly support the FRC’s position; namely, that any
future auditor regulatory regime should be independent of the profession,
and that it should be benchmarked against international standards and
practices. A key aim is to enable Hong Kong to be eligible to be represented
in the IFIAR. Let me lay out in a little more detail the summaries of the
Consultation Conclusions.

At the broadest level, the Consultation Conclusions made it clear that the
concept of self-regulation must now be firmly left behind. The overwhelming
trend in recent years has been for international financial centres to move
away from allowing the audit profession to self-regulate towards adopting a
much more transparent and impartial system with an independent regulator
performing regulatory functions. This is the shift that needs to take place in
Hong Kong too in the best interest of the investing public.
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In the United Kingdom (UK) and the United States of America, the role of the
independent audit regulator is performed by the Financial Reporting Council
(UK) and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board respectively.
Since the FRC operates independently from the audit profession, it is a
logical move for the FRC to take up the role as the independent regulator in
Hong Kong. This would bring Hong Kong into line with major jurisdictions.

A core part of the Government’s proposals as reflected in the Consultation
Conclusions is to vest the FRC with powers to carry out direct inspections
and investigations of auditors of listed entities, as well as to take disciplinary
action against them as required. In addition, the FRC would be vested
with oversight powers in relation to registration, the setting of standards
in professional ethics, auditing and assurance, and the establishment of
requirements for continuing professional development for auditors of listed
entities. The FRC would also be empowered to require relevant information
from the Hong Kong Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), and to give
written directions to the HKICPA upon being satisfied that it is in the public
interest in respect of its oversight functions.

In practical terms, the proposed new regulatory regime would cover
auditors of public interest entities (PIEs), defined as listed entities in Hong
Kong. There will be no change to the existing qualification and experience
requirements for considering whether a person is fit and proper to be
registered as a Listed Entity Auditor (LEA). Each LEA will be required by
law to designate at least one “responsible person”, who is in charge of
the quality control of audit engagements in respect of listed entities. The
responsible person will be required to use his best endeavours to ensure
that the LEA has established policies and procedures for maintaining the
quality control system in respect of listed entity audit engagements and to
secure observance with the policies and procedures within the LEA, and will
be subject to disciplinary actions if such person has not complied with such
requirements.

The statutory function of conducting recurring inspections of LEAs in
respect of their listed entity audit engagements would be transferred from
the HKICPA to the FRC. At the same time, the FRC would be vested with
direct disciplinary powers, including the power to make decisions on
disciplinary cases concerning LEAs in respect of listed entity audits. These
powers will, however, be subject to a range of checks and balances. For
example, under the new regime anyone subject to disciplinary proceedings
would have the right to a fair hearing, which would include the right to make
written or oral representations. A person would also have the right to appeal
against a disciplinary decision, through an independent appeals tribunal.
The FRC’s investigation and inspection staff would not be involved in the
disciplinary process or in determining sanctions.
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With these responsibilities for the FRC would come the power to impose
financial penalties on LEAs of up to HK$10 million or three times the amount
of the profit gained or loss avoided, whichever is the greater. This power
would be regulated by law, with the FRC being required to issue guidelines
on how it may decide to impose any pecuniary penalty which should
include, inter alia, that the penalty should not have the likely effect of putting
a firm or individual in financial jeopardy. The new regime would also see the
setting up of a new independent appeals tribunal to hear appeals against
registration and disciplinary decisions.

The Government’s Consultation Conclusions are a major step towards
bringing auditor regulatory reform to Hong Kong. We continue to hold
regular liaison meetings on the topic with the Government and other
stakeholders, and keep abreast of developments in international auditor
regulation. All this is helping us prepare the FRC for changes in the local
auditor regulatory regime as and when they are implemented.

Multi-level collaboration

Apart from our investigation functions, one of our important tasks is to foster
communication with our regulatory counterparts and related stakeholders.
To this end, we held regular liaison meetings with other regulators in Hong
Kong to discuss matters of mutual interest. We also made use of these
occasions when we were able to update each other on the status of referred
cases, and share the progress of our respective financial statements review
programmes.

Our collaboration with our Mainland counterparts is built on the framework
provided in the Memorandum of Understanding signed between the FRC
and the PRC’s Ministry of Finance (MoF). During the year, we continued
to be involved in constructive discussions with the MoF and the China
Securities Regulatory Commission on ways to overcome the difficulties
experienced by regulators and auditors in gaining access to audit working
papers under current Mainland regulations. We believe that the Mainland
authorities recognize the importance of allowing the FRC access to audit
working papers, and are considering suitable measures to enhance cross-
border cooperation in this area.

Further afield, the FRC sent representatives to various international
conferences and related events where they were able to share insights with
other regulators from major capital markets.

Communication with the investing public

We have continued our efforts to make our work as transparent as possible
by constantly reviewing our communication channels, thus enhancing
the quality of our communication with members of the public. Recently
we launched our redesigned website, which now delivers enhanced
functionality, a more comprehensive range of information, and an improved
navigation interface. We have also launched an official FRC page on certain
social media platforms, to take advantage of the trend towards social media
communication among the public.
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In addition, the FRC provides briefings to Hong Kong’s legislators, and
responds to any questions they may raise. This is done at a meeting of
LegCo’s Panel on Financial Affairs every year.

Appreciations

I' would like to thank our Council Members for their sterling efforts over the
past year. As always, | also take pleasure in extending thanks to all our FRC
staff for the hard work and professionalism they have displayed throughout
the year.

Thanks are also due to our Honorary Advisory Panel, the Financial
Reporting Review Panel (FRRP) and the Process Review Panel for the great
support they have provided. The Honorary Advisory Panel and the FRRP
have played important roles in ensuring excellence across our operations,
and we have benefited immensely from their professional knowledge and
expertise when handling different cases.

Over the year, changes occurred to the composition of both the FRRP and
the Honorary Advisory Panel due to retirements and reappointments. 15
new members took up appointments with the FRRP, while 11 members
stepped down upon completion of their terms of service. The Honorary
Advisory Panel welcomed 10 new members, and three members departed.
I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation to
the outgoing members of the Honorary Advisory Panel and the FRRP for
their valuable contributions to the work of the FRC over the past years. At
the same time, | would like to welcome the new members of both Panels.

The composition of our Council changed over the year, with Mr Chew Fook
Aun retiring from the Council at the end of his appointment period on 30
November 2015. | would like to thank Mr Chew for the support he has given
to the work of the FRC during his tenure. In consequence, Dr Kelvin Wong
was appointed to the Council on 1 December 2015. | believe he will pick up
the baton with the same commitment, and | look forward to working closely
with him.

Our Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Mr Mark Dickens, will end his term of
office on 31 March 2016, and | take this opportunity to express my utmost
appreciation for his contributions to the FRC. Mr Dickens’s knowledge and
experience as a financial regulator have, over the past three years, well
guided the FRC’s professional team, and he has done a fantastic job in
leading the FRC as it has seized opportunities, overcome challenges and
prepared itself for changes arising from the reform of the auditor regulatory
regime in Hong Kong.

Following an extensive open recruitment exercise, | am pleased to
welcome the appointment of Mr Paul Winkelmann to the position of CEO
commencing 1 April 2016. Mr Winkelmann was the partner-in-charge of
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ Risk Management and Quality team in Greater
China from 2002 to 2014 and was the President of the HKICPA in 2009.
He also served as the Chairman of the Financial Reporting Standards
Committee of the HKICPA from 2004 to 2009 which oversaw the full
convergence of Hong Kong’s accounting, audit and ethics standards with
the international standards. | am confident that the FRC will benefit from Mr
Winkelmann’s extensive experience in the profession, including regulatory
and compliance issues concerning the profession, and we will be well
positioned to tackle the challenges ahead.

Financial Reporting Council Annual Report 2015
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Going forward with confidence

The market is constantly changing and developing. On one hand new
opportunities for the accounting profession are constantly arising. On the
other hand, business growth is sustainable only when it is accompanied
by integrity in practice and professional conduct. Our role in the months
and years ahead is to further strengthen the standards of professionalism
and integrity of Hong Kong’s auditing profession. Only by doing this will
we be able to ensure that standards in Hong Kong meet ever-changing
international regulatory requirements and live up to the increasing
expectations of the investing public.

To achieve success as an independent regulator, it is essential for the FRC
to develop a deep talent pool that will drive it ahead and create strong lines
of succession for the future. In view of the likely expansion of the functions
of the FRC under any new auditor regulatory regime, we are currently setting
about to assess our future human resources needs. At this stage, our focus
is on identifying the most effective strategies for attracting high calibre talent
to our team.

We will continue to assist the Government in the legislative process and
provide input regarding the ongoing listed entity auditor regulatory reform
process. We are hopeful that the Government’s reform proposals will
lead to the FRC being mandated with additional responsibilities and be
transformed into a fully-fledged independent auditor regulator in the near
future. The successful implementation of the reform proposals will further
enhance the professional standards and conduct of the audit profession,
benefiting the profession itself and investors, and elevate and reinforce
the status of Hong Kong as an international financial centre. Wherever the
auditor regulatory reform takes us, we hope the reform will bring the FRC to
become a member of IFIAR and Hong Kong’s auditor regulatory regime will
be recognised as EC equivalent.
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It is essential that the financial reporting of a listed
entity presents an accurate, coherent and balanced
picture of the business and its prospects. Summed
up in a word, integrity plays a vital part in good
corporate reporting.
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Mark Dickens, JP Chief Executive Officer
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In today’s world, the business environment is an ever more complex one,
and business has become increasingly globalized. This makes the need
of investors for reliable in-depth information about a company’s financial
position — and its strategy for managing risks — greater than ever before. It
is essential therefore that the financial reporting of a listed entity presents an
accurate, coherent and balanced picture of the business and its prospects.
Summed up in a word, integrity plays a vital part in good corporate
reporting. Listed entities, auditors, reporting accountants and those who
prepare financial statements all play a key role in ensuring that integrity is
upheld throughout the reporting process.

Integrity is also one of the core values of the FRC. In the face of frequently
volatile stock markets and an ever-changing financial and regulatory
environment, the FRC has remained firmly committed to upholding the
integrity and the quality of the financial reporting of Hong Kong-listed
entities throughout the past year.

The FRC is a statutory body established in 2006 to conduct independent
investigations into possible auditing or reporting irregularities and enquiries
into possible non-compliance with accounting requirements in relation to
listed entities. To identify the above irregularities and non-compliances,
the FRC handles complaints it receives, reviews modified auditors’
reports issued by listed entities, and implements a risk-based financial
statements review programme. | am pleased to report on our progress and
achievements over the past year.
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Review of complaints

In 2015, the FRC received 46 pursuable complaints. Of these, 25 related to
auditing or reporting irregularities and three related to non-compliance with
accounting requirements. A further 18 complaints involved both auditing or
reporting irregularities and non-compliance with accounting requirements.

= RIRER

RBR2015F HE EAGTR Al IREFRF - EF - 255
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2015 2014
Anonymous complaints REESALTHIRSF - 1
Complaints from the public KE AR 30 1
Complaints from HKEx REBRFTRREF 6 6
Complaints from the HKICPA REBBEMAEHRT 7 5
Complaints from both the HKICPA and REBAGHMAER
anonymous source E & ATRIEF - 2
Complaints from the SFC KEFEGOIRF 3 18
Total BE 46 33

Every complaint received by the FRC is carefully considered, with the time
required to process each complaint dependent on the circumstances of
the individual case. Some cases require us to collect and review additional
information before a decision can be taken.

In 2015, we handled all 14 complaints brought forward from the previous
year, along with 46 pursuable complaints received during the year. As
a result, six investigations/enquiries were initiated. By the end of 2015,
24 of the pursuable complaints were under review. The FRC is aiming at
completing its reviews of these complaints by mid 2016.
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2015 2014
Under review at beginning of year FHEHREZRE 14 22
Pursuable complaints received R BRERR 46 33
Recommenced complaints EHABERMNER - 2
60 57

Completed with no follow-up action B TR Rk M 7 ZEREER 1T
BMMER (28) (28)
Referred to specified enforcement agency WX T IRARITHRENHER (2) -
Initiated investigation/enquiry RERAT/ SHANER (6) (15)
Under review at end of year FRNEERHFHER 24 14
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Review of complaints
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Review of modified auditors’ reports

The FRC screened all 174 modified auditors’ reports issued by auditors of
Hong Kong listed entities in 2015 (2014:171). Of this total, 95 (2014:94)
did not include any apparent auditing irregularities or non-compliance with
accounting requirements, as the auditors issued an “emphasis of matter”
opinion in their auditors’ reports. These modified auditors’ reports did not
require further review. The FRC reviewed all the other 79 (2014:77) modified
auditors’ reports with other modified opinions (such as “Qualified opinion”,
“Disclaimer of opinion” and “Adverse opinion”) in order to consider follow-
up action.

In 2015, four modified auditors’ reports required direct follow-up action by
the FRC because the audit qualifications in these modified auditors’ reports
indicated prior period errors that were not identified in the prior period
reports.

= #,mﬁ%’ BRZBAE®RE

ﬂ:)%ﬁﬁﬁ% MEEN2015F LR HIEER

EF%‘(EM&DA 7415 (20144 1 1711{p) - Heh
95@(2014¢ 9415 ) Bl 1Z BUAM 7 1% B Al 5] & 3%
KX ERFE|EAMTECSERBENRFTET
ABETERSHAESEE ALBEESEE— S
M- RBEMEM7IH (201445 : 771 ) HAEEMHIE
ERBER (WMIRBER] [TR#ERERIRIE
EERDOFERBE R ZEAMRE - UE RO
TEH IR H#E

R2016% - KA IFMARE B R LB IR EH &K
SANEABREHEREHREREREGEBE
HRMRERNB B R AREMTERNEZKIR
#ETH-

2015 2014
Under review at beginning of year FUEMFTHEZR 17 13
Required review during the year FRFERMNHER 79 77
96 90

Completed with no follow-up action B SRRk M 7 ZERERER 1T
B EE (90) (68)
Required follow-up action FERDRETHOMEE (4) (%)
Under review at end of year FERDEERPEERE 2 17
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Risk-based financial statements review programme

The FRC selects financial statements for review based on the risk factors
currently prevailing in the market. The specific criteria for selecting financial
statements for review are determined before each review cycle begins. A
breakdown by selection criteria of the 2015 review cycle is presented in the
“Operations Review” section on page 59 of this annual report.

To ensure the review process is carried out as efficiently as possible, the
FRC engages external reviewers to review some of the financial statements
under the programme. Those handled by external reviewers include:

° financial statements and accountants’ reports of newly listed entities;

° financial statements prepared under the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises (ASBE); and

° financial statements containing complex or contentious accounting/
auditing issues.

Internally, the FRC itself reviews financial statements with prior period
adjustments that suggest a lack of adequate professional skepticism on
the part of auditors. All financial statements reviewed by external reviewers
are re-examined by staff of the FRC to ensure that any cases of apparent
non-compliance with accounting requirements have been dealt with
consistently.

In the 2014 financial year, 44 Hong Kong-listed Mainland entities opted to
use eligible Mainland auditors to audit their financial statements prepared
under ASBE. A selection of these financial statements was included in the
respective financial statements review programmes of the FRC, Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (HKEx) and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

RIZ R E I B R R TS
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ko
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RAEXEREEETEN TEMEBHRATHAH
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EREMER BRA B XEBEA TN E
REAREFENESR-
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MURFELTNABERZEEERNBZRENE
ZERE (KCEFTER) RE2014FHBF LR
BHE EFHBOCHALRR BERXSREEM
BRAB (BRM)REESTNAGE BN
WREHTE -

2015 2014
Under review at beginning of year FUEMA OB RE 62 42
Initiated based on review of modified AEMIEERE B R AZEAD
auditors’ reports mEMBERMNER 1 -
Initiated based on other selection criteria ] B A2 (61 T R B A
[EHE= 60 54
123 96
Completed with no follow-up action B TEAK M 7 ZEREER 1T
BB 15 R E (32) (16)
Issued letters of advice BERNEEZENER K (2 (3)
Required follow-up review EERERMNUBRE (8) (15)
Under review at end of year FRIMEFREFOHBHHRE 81 62
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Investigations

During the year, the FRC initiated 11 investigations and handled 28
investigations brought forward from the previous year. In total, nine
investigations were completed, and the investigation reports have been
referred to the HKICPA, which will determine whether any disciplinary action
is warranted. Summaries of investigations completed in 2015 can be found
in the “Operations Review” section on pages 60 to 70 of this annual report.

In 2015, the HKICPA’s disciplinary committees took disciplinary action in
response to three investigations completed and referred to it by the FRC
in earlier years. The certified public accountants (practising) and corporate
practices involved in these cases were reprimanded and ordered to pay
penalties and costs. The disciplinary committee also ordered that the
practising certificate of one of them should be cancelled, and that no new
practising certificate should be issued for one year.

By the end of 2015, 30 investigations were in progress. The majority of
these were initiated in the second half of 2014 and in 2015. Some of the
investigations still outstanding involve highly complex issues and require

g
O
[

KREREFRRANRASEREREE L —FEEE
FR2SRAESHER XEXNATHAEER BEXB
BEREEE +%”A£x? EHRE REREER
BHRBREMEMRLEED - R2015F TN FAER
yﬁM$¢ﬁ%wE§%mE(§¢@@J—%o

R2015%  BEEGRMAGNLEZESHABN
REFEE K EAEENN = RASERRRL
BED - ZFERFEOAEG I RAZEER
RARYSINEREER P —BHRESED
WRRZEEYTHHAERS TE—FRATE
EENERE-

HE0ISFFE  ARNEHETIORAL[EE K
PRER D RR2014F T HEF RHR2015F R - 25
MEFACERSREERNBE FEMRZEF

study of financial statements across several years, and these have required ERBFEHRE AL EEAESERETEE LHME
more time for evidence to be collected and information reviewed. We are £ ZBEMBHER - KBHE KB MEETH
confident that the majority of these outstanding investigations can be & EZ A R2016F 5T °
completed in 2016.

2015 2014
In progress at beginning of year FYRAETRHER 28 10
Initiated in the year FRRAASHEZR 11 22

39 32

Completed TR AE M AR 9) (4)
In progress at end of year FRMNEASHFHER 30 28

Progress of investigation cases

WEBRNER
(2011-2015)
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— ¢ T—— o

39
32
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
~— Completed —@— Handled during the year
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Enquiries
During the year, the FRC brought forward one enquiry from last year and
initiated one new enquiry.

The time taken to complete an enquiry depends on the circumstances
and complexity of individual cases. Documents, explanations and
information from related persons have to be obtained, all of which can
take considerable time. The FRC is aiming at completing the outstanding
enquiries by 2016.

B
ABREREE R L ERBHERERN
REH-REMER-

AR - FREMBERMFEENBRRTSRER
MERAREMETNE ARFE—ERMUEEA
THUS XM BERER - AR EIHR20165F T K
DEETHEHEZR-

2015 2014

In progress at beginning of year FOERTNEZR 1 1
Initiated during the year FRARMEMOEZR 1 1
2 2

Completed TEREMMEZR = (1)
In progress at year end FRNEEMFHER 2 1

Progress of enquiry cases

ERERNER
(2011-2015)

2011 2012 2013

~— Completed
B 5ERK

Advice letters to listed entities and their auditors

In cases where potential non-compliance with accounting requirements
does not affect the presentation of the financial statements, the FRC does
not initiate an investigation or enquiry. Instead, it issues a letter of advice,
which includes findings and suggested improvements or remedial measures
for the listed entities and/or their auditors to consider. The FRC issued four
such letters of advice in 2015.

2014

2015

—@— Handled during the year
FANERIE

FETEEBREREMNER R
BOERFHTE TR BT AT N
KENLF ARTLRMATREN R2HL
METERE/ SERBHELREENERRY
R LR 600 L 1 ° AN 201548 5 M
HERE
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Cooperation among regulators

Throughout the year, the FRC held regular liaison meetings with the
Financial Services and Treasury Bureau (FSTB) and other regulators in Hong
Kong, including the Securities and Futures Commission (SFC), the HKICPA,
and HKEx. These meetings offered good opportunities for updating each
other on case referrals and joint reviews of financial statements, as well as
for sharing ways of maintaining regulatory effectiveness and efficiency in
order to better protect investors and serve the public interest. As in previous
years, the FRC jointly hosted the annual joint financial reporting forum with
HKEx and the HKICPA in November 2015. The forum enabled the three
regulators to share the findings of their respective financial statements
review programmes with listed entities and auditors, while also offering
valuable reminders about good practice.

The FRC kept abreast of debates and new developments globally by
participating in a number of international conferences, seminars and
workshops throughout the year. One such event was the highly practical
Third ASEAN Audit Regulators Inspection Workshop in Bangkok; another
was the 2015 ASEAN Audit Regulators Group Dialogue held in Kuala
Lumpur. The US Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s 2015
International Auditor Regulatory Institute was held in Washington during the
year, and FRC representatives also attended this very useful global event.

Maintaining effective regulation practices and
operational excellence

In 2015, the Process Review Panel (PRP) continued to perform its role of
reviewing a representative selection of the cases handled by the FRC -
seven in total — to ensure that all were handled strictly in accordance with
the FRC’s established internal procedures. The PRP aims to publish its
annual report shortly.

Financial review

For the 2015 financial year, the annual contribution to the FRC was
HK$28.0 million (2014: HK$19.4 million). This amount is sourced from
our four funding parties — the Companies Registry Trading Fund, HKEXx,
the HKICPA and the SFC. The FRC recorded a surplus of HK$6.0 million
in 2015 (2014: deficit of HK$1.6 million). Total expenditure for the year
amounted to HK$23.2 million (2014: HK$21.6 million).

The FRC’s major expenditure items were staff costs of HK$21.0 million

(2014: HK$19.7 million), and corporate communications expenses of
HK$0.8 million (2014: HK$0.8 million).
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Talent management

The FRC undertook a number of initiatives during the year both to cultivate
its existing talent pool and attract new talent. Members of the FRC’s
operations team engaged in technical training designed to enhance their
skills in handling cases from different industries and increase their familiarity
with new accounting and auditing standards.

The FRC has recently reassessed its manpower requirements in response
to an increasing caseload. It hired an investigation director and an associate
director in the fourth quarter of 2015, each of whom took up their positions
in the first quarter of 2016. These appointments should lead to better
management of outstanding cases, and a more effective response to a likely
increase in workload in the future.
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Chairman

ESi

Members
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Dr John Poon, BBS, JP (re-appointment effective 15 December 2014; term expires
on 14 December 2016)

Dr Poon is a solicitor and a non-executive director of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority. He was formerly the deputy chairman of Esprit Holdings
Limited until July 2008. Dr Poon served as a lay member of the council of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) from December 2005 to
December 2011 during which he was also the chairman of Professional Qualifications
Accountability Board (2009-2011) and the chairman of Governance Review
Task Force in 2011. He was a member of the Standing Committee on Company
Law Reform (2003-2009) and the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance)
(2004-2010).

EEBEEL AEMES KAFM#E (R2014FE12A158 BEES (T EHHE2016512
A14B &%)

EBELTA—ZEM TRBFMEABEFENEERENTET HWEEBERKIERE
fRA BRI &I F 22008F7 A B H T ZHR2005F 12 A Z2011F 12 AR ER B SHAIA
CEFSEINIER HHTECEEEREEZ B E/E(2009-2011) RR2011 FEHEE
BN BEE/NAER M EELQRNEREEHE B €K 8 (2003-2009) ' kFiIE LHFE S
2% 8(2004-2010) °

Mr Chan Tze Ching, BBS, JP (appointment effective 1 December 2014 on the
nomination of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (HKEX); term expires on
30 November 2016)

Mr Chan is a senior advisor of The Bank of East Asia and CVC Capital Partners.
Mr Chan is a veteran banker, with over 30 years’ of banking experience covering
Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan and Mainland China. He currently serves on the boards of
various listed companies, NGOs and government statutory bodies.

BRFBHEFAESZ  KPHL (R2014F 1281 BEEBEERGNEERER AR (B
Fr)RBEE: FHAE2016411 308 @)

B 55 A 3R fE SR 22 $R 7T . CVC Capital Partnersim B - BREE BB RIRITR EERHE
BIOFLHKERS BN A8 RPESH -t E AT EEZHE ETAR - HFEEERIK
IEEHBENES -
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Mr Chew Fook Aun (re-appointment effective 1 December 2012; term expired on 30
November 2015)

Mr Chew is the deputy chairman and executive director of Lai Sun Garment
(International) Limited and Lai Sun Development Company Limited, the executive
director of eSun Holdings Limited, and the chairman and executive director of Lai
Fung Holdings Limited. He has over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and finance in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong. He was a vice president and a
former council member of the HKICPA. He is a certified public accountant and a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW)
and of the HKICPA. Mr Chew is a member of the Operations Review Committee of
the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) and was a member of its
Corruption Prevention Advisory Committee from January 2009 to December 2014.
He is also a member of the Hong Kong Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. He
served as a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law Reform from
February 2009 to January 2015 and a member of the Advisory Committee of the
Securities and Futures Commission (SFC) from June 2007 to May 2013. He is
currently an Honorary Adviser of the FRC.

BARREE (R2012F12A1HBEEZF: AHZE2015911 A30H &)

ArErRBHEKXKBEBBRAFABHERERAFMNBEFERNITES LEBIER
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S TAERBMERNEF e ASREAeTMASNERSE -AXER
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MEHEARNERERKZEEEME AR ER2007F6 A £2013F5 A M HEEH & H
EERERZTES (BEQ)ZHZESNE B AN KERS B EEER -

Mr Wilson Fung (appointment effective 1 December 2014 on nomination of the
HKICPA; term expires on 30 November 2016)

Mr Fung has over 17 years of experience in auditing in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. Having worked for Jardine Matheson for 21 years, he retired from the
company as its group financial controller in September 2014. He is a fellow member
of both the HKICPA and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA),
and a member of the ICAEW. He was elected as president of the HKICPA in 2010.
Mr Fung is the founding president of Hong Kong Business Accountants Association,
the chairman of Hong Kong Dance Company, a member of Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions) Review Tribunal, a member of
Hong Kong Productivity Council, a member of the Audit Committee of West Kowloon
Cultural District Authority, a member of the Audit Committee of Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology and a director of the Urban Renewal Fund. He was
appointed to the Financial Reporting Review Panel of the FRC as a Convenor from
July 2007 to July 2013.

BRELE (R2014F12A1HEEBSTMASRAZ A (L ZE2016511 A30/E W)

BEEERBRERBERAI17TFRETLEH  SREMNERER AR TIERBIBE21F - 1K2014
FORRKA AEENBRE - MR EBSHMAEREFARSTMASNERSE
R EENEBNSTSTMATHNEE - MER2010F HEBSEMAEE R
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£ (SREB)BREREZE BALEENRERKE AAXIEEEEREBITZES
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Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith (re-appointment effective 1 December 2015; term
expires on 30 November 2017)

Mr Sallnow-Smith is the chairman of the board of Link Asset Management Limited.
He has over 40 years of experience in the finance and treasury field in the United
Kingdom and Asia, and has extensive knowledge of the property investment/
management industry in Hong Kong. He was chief executive of Hongkong Land
Limited between 2000 and 2007. He is an independent non-executive director of
Wynn Macau, Limited, UCP Plc and Aviva Life Insurance Company Limited (Hong
Kong). He has been actively involved in public service and is an executive committee
member of the Hong Kong Youth Arts Foundation, a member of the Council of
the Treasury Markets Association, and a councilor of Foundation for The Arts and
Music in Asia Ltd. He is also a member of the Board of Governors of Hong Kong
Philharmonic Society Ltd., a director of East Asian History of Science Foundation
Ltd., and chairman of the Manpower Committee of the Hong Kong General Chamber
of Commerce.

BIKBALE (R2015F12A1EBEEZ M £HZE2017F11 A30HER)

BEAPAEERREETRERAANEETS IE - N ER KBNS 5K & R
BEA0F RS WEBENYRKRE/EETEREGEBEH - (LR20009F 22007 FH Z
EETEEMEB A BNTRER 2 XMREPIER AT UCP Plch BB R ZEHEA
ERRERARNBIUIFATES WER2ENBRYE REEFTFEMBETRE
EEXE MEMSASHGNNE TMHNENSEEEESENER I BEEEX
BEERAREERRGHNBELES S ER NEBLPNEANZESELE -

Hon Sin Chung Kai, SBS, JP (re-appointment effective 1 December 2015; term
expires on 30 November 2017)

Mr Sin is a Legislative Councillor representing the geographical constituency of Hong
Kong Island. He served as a board director of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority and the chairman of its Remuneration Committee from 2008 to 2014.
Mr Sin served as a board member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board from 2008 to
2014, a member of the Council for Sustainable Development from 2009 to 2013, a
member of the Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council from 2009 to 2013 and
a member of the Operations Review Committee and Witness Protection Review
Board Panel of the ICAC from 2006 to 2012. He served as a member of the Housing
Authority from 2001 to 2009 and a board director of the Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited from 1999 to 2009.

BEZEE BEFAES  KPHL (H2015F1281HBEEZET  LHE2017F11 A
308 fE@i)

BEFEARKRE AT EENDEGHE -t ZR2008F £2014F RN XLEE
BREZFNERZBTFMEE S EFE - B EEEN2008F E2014F EEBBIRIEEE
B E © 2009F EZ2013F AR HEFEZ E S E - R2009F £2013F A AK=ARE
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BABREEEZELE - EHN2001 FE2009F EEEELZESZE 8 - RN1999F £2009
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Mr David Stannard (re-appointment effective 1 December 2015; term expires on 30
November 2017)

Mr Stannard is a corporate lawyer based in Hong Kong. He was an executive
director in charge of the Corporate Finance Division of the SFC from January 1999
to September 2001, a member of the Listing Committee of the Main Board and the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (SEHK) from
2003 to 2008 and a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law Reform
from 2003 to 2010.

BERESEE (R2015F1281BBEERE A8 =2017F11 8308 @/ )

RERLTERHBREKEBMEBEM D A E PR - A7 19994 1 A £20014F9
BEABES YR EMHMITESE  2003F F2008FE ABBMEX AR A T
(BEZFT) TRAMAIER FTHEEEME 20035 E2010FE AR REREBKES

gKE -

Mr Wong Kai Man, BBS, JP (appointment effective 1 December 2014 on nomination
of the SFC; terms expires on 30 November 2016)

Mr Wong was a non-executive director of the SFC (2009-May 2015) and a member of
the Listing Committee (1999-2003) of the Growth Enterprise Market of the SEHK. He
was an audit partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Hong Kong before his retirement
in June 2005. He has served/is serving as an independent non-executive director
of several companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr Wong has also served on advisory
committees and statutory bodies established by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR), boards of charities and councils of
universities.

ERER IHEAMEST AP (R2014F 121 HHBESIREZ ST EH E20165F 11
A308 fEi%)
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Dr Kelvin Wong, JP (appointment effective 1 December 2015; term expires on 30
November 2017)

Dr Wong is an executive director and deputy managing director of COSCO Pacific
Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of a number of listed
corporations in Hong Kong. He is currently a non-executive director of the Securities
and Futures Commission and a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform.

BRHEBL  KFPHL (HR2015F1281BEL T FHZE2017911 A30/E )
EHLIRFERAFTFERAFNTESRESFALE TETZHEE LT ARNSE

VHERTER - MRABRLFRMEEBERZE S (REQ)IFNTESFNRRAERER

Ms Eirene Yeung (appointment effective 3 June 2014; term expires on 30 November
2016)

Ms Yeung is a member of the Executive Committee and company secretary of
Cheung Kong Property Holdings Limited. She is also the company secretary and
the alternate director to the group managing director of Cheung Kong Infrastructure
Holdings Limited; the company secretary of CK Life Sciences Int’l., (Holdings) Inc.;
and a non-executive director of ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited, which
manages Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust, a real estate investment trust listed
in Hong Kong and Singapore. Ms Yeung is a member of the SFC (HKEC Listing)
Committee of the SFC of Hong Kong, a member of the Listing Committee of the
Main Board and Growth Enterprise Market of the SEHK, a member of the Advisory
Committee on Corruption of the ICAC, a General Committee member of The
Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, a member of the Advisory Board of the
MBA Programmes of The Chinese University of Hong Kong (CUHK) and a member of
the Advisory Group on BBA-JD Programme of CUHK. Ms Yeung is a solicitor of the
High Court of the HKSAR and of the Senior Courts of England and Wales. She is also
a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors (HKloD), The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries (HKICS) and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators.

BRZuzt ((F8MA201456 38 £ =2016511H308 @im)
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Ms Ada Chung, JP (ex-officio) (appointment effective 1 October 2007)

Ms Chung, the Registrar of Companies, is a certified public accountant and a
barrister-at-law. As a representative of the Financial Secretary, Ms Chung is an ex-
officio council member of the HKICPA. She is also a fellow of the HKICS and the
HKIoD. Before her appointment as the Registrar in August 2007, she was a Deputy
Law Officer of the Department of Justice.

EERATALT (EAKE)(H2007F10R1H )
BT AARGMEER E— RS MEAEM - EL LU HARERRNEZH

HEBBEMAERESEARB WITREERANELAGRBEBEERENER
B R -ERTN2007F8AREERERA AEKABIREERZR -

Mr Mark Dickens, JP (ex-officio) (appointment effective 1 April 2013; term expires on
31 March 2016)

Mr Dickens is the Chief Executive Officer of the FRC. He is a lawyer by training and
has over 25 years of experience as a financial regulator in Hong Kong and Australia.
He was the Head of Listing Division of HKEx from March 2009 until his retirement
in March 2013, during which he oversaw significant policy developments. Prior to
joining HKEx, he held several senior positions in the SFC for 14 years, including
serving as executive director of enforcement from 1997 to 1999. He was also a
Member of the FRC from December 2006 to January 2009 on the nomination of the
SFC. He is a member of the Financial Services Development Council.

WEHBEAFHEL (EARKE)(EHPH20135FE4 81 B - E201653 5318 f@im)
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The FRC exercises its statutory powers under the Financial Reporting
Council Ordinance (Cap 588) (FRCO) to further its mission of upholding the
quality of financial reporting of listed entities in Hong Kong.

The FRC recognizes the importance of good corporate governance
and operates within a framework that emphasizes integrity, proficiency,
independence, impartiality, accountability and transparency. Having
adopted the best practices outlined by the International Federation of
Accountants, the FRC has in place a clearly defined governing structure,
high standards of conduct, reliable internal control procedures and
appropriate checks and balances.

Organization Structure
BB

Council

Honorary Advisory Panel
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The Council

The FRC is governed by its Members, who operate as a Council. The
majority of Council Members, including the Chairman, are lay persons, i.e.
non-accountants. The FRC’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is appointed
by the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(HKSAR) on the recommendation of the Council.

As at 31 December 2015, there were 11 Members on the Council. These
members are appointed by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR, with three
being nominated by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (HKEX),
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) and
the Securities and Futures Commission (SFC) respectively. The Registrar
of Companies or her representative, and the FRC’s CEQO, are ex-officio
members.

Given the nature of the FRC’s work, it is essential that members of the FRC
Council and all FRC staff act according to the highest standards of integrity.
They are all expected to adhere to the highest ethical standards when
conducting activities on behalf of the FRC.

The CEO and his staff manage the operations of the FRC; they report back
to Council Members in accordance with the provisions of the procedural
manual. On their part, Council Members give directives to the CEO and FRC
staff, and ensure the organization’s statutory functions are being performed
effectively.

Members of the Council are legally bound to declare any interest they may
have in a case. Council Members present during deliberations or decision-
making by HKEX, the HKICPA or the SFC relating to cases to be referred to
the FRC are considered as having an interest in that case. In accordance
with the FRCO, Council Members having such an interest may not (a) be
present during any deliberation by the Council, (b) take part in any decision
made by the Council, or (c) be given any documents related to the case.

B TS E 3R A X
HBERBRERELEHBERBNEF AR
MAHMHRE (BEER) WARIAL R
B ABMTRARE TSR TRETHEEE
ARHBEE-

=3

=
=
BE

S IERBN2015F12A31BNKERIIA  BHE
BEATRETBRREZRT HFP =K EHHH
EAR G RELFMARAT GEBRAT) - BB SHED
REUREBELFLHEERERZES (BEE)R
BEE-RBOMEEAKE DB R AR FMER
EREARER URABITRER -

ERMBERBDN TIELE  MIFERRBKE R
BV BERRE I VARBESNAEEETE-
FEERRYBERRBITTEREAETNRS
BERAER -

THREREETBEMBERBOATEEE L
RIERRFF F A EX A B B E | T R B
BEMITREDSREE T HIES BRAYET
HEE A ERAE -

I ER B B IR B AT se A R R s
BEOERR-ABKEMERRT FRGEIQ
EARESERATTENERTARRAS XK
DR2UZBENERAR —BRATAEMER
REMERE - RIR (U BERBE) - EERS
BHZBENKE TR B RER@QLERBKE
FAIEZRE (D)2 R BERBKEFELHNE
AR TE © S () EJ AT A RE ST

BIEEIRE 2015F 3K

25



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

(continued)

26

EEER @

Council meetings

The Council meets once every two months and holds additional meetings
as and when necessary; it also handles some matters by circulation. The
financial statements of the Council and progress reports on cases are also
submitted to the Council for review at meetings. In 2015, the Council held
six meetings, all of which were conducted in accordance with the provisions
of the FRCO.

Attendance at Council meetings in 2015 was as follows:

HHREBRREHAESE

Hﬂ%[iﬁ%}ﬁ%ifﬁﬂﬂ% —REW LR
%”Ffﬁ%@l\é% EUNEEENSIXBREETE
$%E@Eﬁf%#&§&1 REEHEONEG L2

% AR EER - AR ER2016F HBITT X

Re#% MAEERYRR (HBERBIEN) &
RSETT -

MBERBKER2015FHN@FLBERLT

Meetings attended/held

SEHFE/BIRE
Dr John Poon, BBS, JP (Chairman) FEEBE L MEFAEE KF@HE (EF) 6/6
Mr Chan Tze Ching, BBS, JP PR IR EE KPPt 5/6
Mr Chew Fook Aun' & A 6/6
Mr Wilson Fung GES 6/6
Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith BIKBA L £ 5/6
Hon Sin Chung Kai, SBS, JP BHEZEE BREFEE KFaL 6/6
Mr David Stannard BIERE R E 6/6
Mr Wong Kai Man, BBS, JP =R -WEFAEE KATFa+ 5/6
Dr Kelvin Wong, JP? BERAMEL KFHL2 N/A i A
Ms Eirene Yeung Bzt 5/6
Ms Ada Chung, JP or her representative (ex-officio) B K Fat s EK KR (ERAKE) 6/6
Mr Mark Dickens, JP (CEO) (ex-officio) BB AT (ITHRAH) (EAKE) 6/6

! Term expired on 30 November 2015.
2 Appointed with effect from 1 December 2015.

The average attendance rate at meetings was 94%.

Pursuant to the FRCO, the Chief Executive of the HKSAR may appoint
temporary members to the FRC to serve on a rotating basis in the event
that the FRC is not able to meet the statutory quorum in relation to matters
in which members have disclosed their interests. As at 31 December 2015,
the following five persons were the temporary members of the FRC:

Mr Vincent Duhamel
Mr Edward Kwan, MH
Mr Michael Scales

Mr MT Shum, SBS
Prof Wong Tak Jun

Mr Edward Kwan, MH, Mr Michael Scales and Mr MT Shum, SBS were each
involved in one case at the Council meetings held in 2015.
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Council committees

The Council has five committees, the responsibilities of which are described
below. These committees meet as necessary, on a periodic basis. Each
committee operates according to its own terms of reference.

Corporate Communications Committee (CCC)

_.Y'

MBERRBETEZES
HEERRTREMEZES H£X

T o 5%
EEET BH-5E8

{EfE
HARRNEFERET

ERREAMEREEE-

KEEREZEES

Back row (from left): Ms Eirene Yeung, Hon Sin Chung Kai, SBS, JP, Ms Ada Chung, JP and Mr Michael Scales
BEE (L) RS L LT BREHE REAES ATt EBERATHTRERSEE

Front row (from left): Mr Mark Dickens, JP (ex-officio) and Mr Chan Tze Ching, BBS, JP (Chairman)

AIHE () kB BAFHLT (EAKE) KRFBC WEFESE > APt (E5F)

Terms of reference

To formulate corporate communications policies and strategies to
increase publicity about the work of the FRC.

To oversee the implementation of corporate communications
strategies approved by the Council, and to utilize appropriate
communications tools, such as press statements, publications,
electronic communications, and conferences, to reach the media
and external parties.

To recommend an annual promotion plan and budget to the Council.
To oversee the review and updating of FRC website layouts and
contents, printed brochures, promotional materials, and other
publications of the FRC.

To oversee publicity campaigns launched from time to time by the
FRC.

BiiEgE
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Summary of the work of the CCC in 2015

Advised on the 2016 corporate communications plan.

Reviewed the draft 2014 annual report of the FRC for the Council’s
approval.

Advised on the selection of vendors for the 2015 annual report of the
FRC.

Vetted the promotional materials of the FRC, including the FRC
eNews and its online advertisements.

Advised on the redesigned website and social media pages of the
FRC.

Advised on the FRC’s public relations and media strategies
in response to the Government’s conclusions on the public
consultation on proposals to improve the regulatory regime for listed
entity auditors (Consultation Conclusions).

Attendance at CCC meetings in 2015 was as follows:

BIBEHZ S 2R2015F 19 L 1EH#EX

20164 KO B B A T Bl iR ik -

E 2014 F M B ERBDFMNER  AFA
ISl ESE- S

$420155F B FSHE 3 /R F e EN Rl & Rl ER 4
EaEe

EZHUBERBNEFER SEMBER
BEFHAREHLES-

LB IERBDH BRI R RERE
ARRfE=-

MEC LT ERZBMEEHENEZNA
Wb ke (s  REMBERBW
AHARREERBEIENER -

BEEMEZE SR ER2016F M L FE XM

N

Meetings attended/held
SEEE /I BOIRE
Mr Chan Tze Ching, BBS, JP' (Chairman) FRFIEC SAERFIEE K@M (EFE) 3/3
Ms Ada Chung, JP EERANTMALT 3/3
Mr Michael Scales’ i NS Pt 3/3
Hon Sin Chung Kai, SBS, JP BHEHRE REMEZE ATHL 3/3
Ms Eirene Yeung Bzt 3/3
Mr Mark Dickens, JP (CEO) (ex-officio) WENBAR T4+ (1TTEREH) (ERAKE) 3/3
Average attendance rate EHWEE 100%

i Appointed with effect from 15 January 2015. L R2015F1 B15HEZ T
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Finance Committee (FC)

Back row (from left): Ms Teresa Ma, Mr Wilson Fung, Mr David Stannard, Ms Ada Chung, JP and Dr PM Kam

‘Y () - BREPALL BFRERE AEREE BERATHLIRHEXEL

Front row (from left): Mr Mark Dickens, JP (ex-officio), Dr Kelvin Wong, JP (Chairman) (appointed with effect from 1 January 2016) and
Mr Chew Fook Aun (Chairman) (term expired on 30 November 2015)
ATEE () KBBRFAL (ERAKE) FBREEL AFAL (EF) (R2016F1A1BERE) REARLEE (£/F) (FHR
2016411 A30H &M )

Terms of reference

° To review the FRC’s treasury, internal control, and financial and risk
management policies and strategies.

o To approve tenders for procurement with an estimated value
exceeding HK$250,000 (other than legal services relating to the
vetting of investigation or enquiry reports).

e  To advise the Council on the short, medium and long term financial
implications of the FRC’s strategic plans.

° To review and make recommendations to the Council on the FRC'’s
annual budget.

° To review the FRC’s draft annual financial statements before
submission to the Council.

o To provide advice on the future funding model of the FRC once the
independent audit oversight reform proposal is finalized.

Summary of the work of the FC in 2015

° Considered the draft financial statements for the 2014 financial year.
° Considered the group medical insurance for the FRC.

° Considered 2016 estimates of the income and expenditure.
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Attendance at FC meetings in 2015 was as follows:

Mr Chew Fook Aun (Chairman)’
Dr Kelvin Wong, JP (Chairman)?

Ms Ada Chung, JP?
Mr Wilson Fung*

Dr PM Kam?

Ms Teresa Ma®

Mr Mark Dickens, JP (CEO) (ex-officio)

Average attendance rate

T Term expired on 30 November 2015.

2 Appointed with effect from 1 January 2016.

3 Resigned with effect from 31 December 2015.
4 Appointed with effect from 15 January 2015.
° Resigned with effect from 28 July 2015.

Independent Audit Oversight Reform Committee (IAORC)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (ontinueq)

AL (EF)
BABE L AP (£/F)?
BB KFmLe

S

HiExEL?

HRAXLe

KEBRFME (THAS) (BRKE)

T

()

~

o

=112
i

N

2R B R2015F M S ia it ERT :

Meetings attended/held
SREE / BOIRE

3/3

N/A T~ 5E
3/3

3/3

N/A 3 F
1/2

3/3

90%

EHIR 2015411 5308 @i °
R2016F1 A1HEZR -
R20155F12 531 BB E »
R201551 A15BEZRF-
201547 A28 H B fE °

TR

S NEREE

Back row (from left): Mr Chew Fook Aun, Mr Wilson Fung, Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith, Hon Sin Chung Kai, SBS, JP,
Eugene Fung, SC and Mr David Stannard

BEE (L) - ARER LA IBEERAE MIKALE B E
Front row (from left): Mr Mark Dickens, JP (ex-officio), Dr John Poon, BBS, JP (Chairman) and Dr Kelvin Wong, JP
RIHE (L) kBB AFMT (EAKE) BHAB L WEFESE  AFat (£F) REREEL K FMt
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Terms of reference

To provide advice to the FRC and the staff on matters related to
the reform of auditor oversight systems in Hong Kong (the Reform),
including but not limited to the registration, inspection, investigation
and sanction of auditors.

To oversee the work of FRC staff in relation to the Reform,
including but not limited to the assumption of statutory powers
for the inspection of listed company auditors and the transition
arrangements relating to audit inspection and related legislative
amendments; and to ensure that the activities undertaken by the
staff are in accordance with the directives of the FRC and the agreed
timeline.

To receive and consider regular progress reports from the staff on the
progress of the Reform.

To undertake specific tasks related to the Reform as required by the
FRC.

Summary of the work of the IAORC in 2015

Considered the Government’s Consultation Conclusions.
Discussed issues relating to auditor regulatory reform in Hong Kong.

Attendance at IAORC meetings in 2015 was as follows:

BEHE

s HMEREAEEHENE (HE)EH B
BENENZEEN N % BERES -
MABKHEETRHERSR -

s EBARMNEIMRMEMEITMNIE 8iF
BRERREEEZ ET A A A E B
Bt B BN BE R RN AER]
I B fER B T E B RAFE 3| A T f e
FETI

. BUREHETRNTEEEROTIRER
o

« BEABMER MTHETHREEBI
e

BUFNEENEZESER2015FH TIEHE
s FHEBFMAREREAE-

e HHBAHAEEEMEENENFEE-

BB EEREZE K EN2016FHEH T
FEEMT

Meetings attended/held

SREE/BIREY
Dr John Poon, BBS, JP (Chairman) EEBAEL  RAERFEE KFEHELT(ER) 1/1
Mr Chew Fook Aun' Az kL 1/1
Mr Eugene Fung, SC? RS BETR L A - B R KR AM2 N/A i A
Mr Wilson Fung? S e 11
Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith BRI £ 1/1
Hon Sin Chung Kai, SBS, JP BREZEE REFEE AFatL 1/1
Mr David Stannard PERE K E 1/
Mr Mark Dickens, JP (CEO) (ex-officio) WERBARFa+ (1TBER) (ERAKE) 11
Average attendance rate TR 100%

" Term expired on 30 November 2015 and re-appointed with effect from U

1 January 2016.
2 Appointed with effect from 1 January 2016.

2

3 Appointed with effect from 15 January 2015 and term expired on g

31 December 2015.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

continued)

Operations Oversight Committee (OOC)
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Back row (from left): Mr Vincent Duhamel, Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith, Mr Wilson Fung, Mr Chan Tze Ching, BBS, JP,
Mr Paul Winkelmann and Mr Stephen Taylor

BBk (L#e)

B A BRIKBRE A B EERLE RTBC MERFAEE  KF4 L &5 R 5t & K Stephen Taylorst 4

Front row (from left): Mr Chew Fook Aun, Mr Mark Dickens, JP (ex-officio), Mr Wong Kai Man, BBS, JP (Chairman) and Mr Jamie Allen
AiE (L) : ERRAE UBHBAFAHLT (EAKE) BEHMR REAREE AFHL (EF) RNEHEE

Terms of reference

To formulate policies, strategies, guidelines and procedures for the
operation of the FRC.

To provide advice to the FRC and its operational staff on technical
and business issues.

To consider the progress of enquiries, investigations, complaints and
reviews currently being dealt with by staff.

To consider enquiry reports approved by the Financial Reporting
Review Committee before their submission to the FRC.

To consider investigation reports approved by the Audit Investigation
Board before submission to the FRC.

To consider the recommendations in the complaint/review
assessment reports before submission to the FRC, and to endorse
those complaint/review assessment reports requiring no follow-up
action.

To consider follow-up actions in relation to the review of modified
auditors’ reports.

To consider and approve the recommendations made in the risk-
based review handling reports in relation to financial statements
selected for review under the risk-based financial statements review
programme.
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Summary of the work of the OOC in 2015 EFERZESER2015FH T IEHE
e  Considered the progress of enquiries, investigations, complaints, ¢ F#&:H #AE K FHIE BERAR
MENHRREMTEREEIEEREE

and reviews, and also the progress of the risk-based financial
statements review programme and the review of modified auditors’

reports.

° Considered 35 complaint handling and assessment reports and 12 e

review assessment reports.

° Considered and approved 89 recommendations arising from the e

review of modified auditors’ reports.

o Considered and approved 42 recommendations in the risk-based e

review handling reports.
° Considered nine investigation reports.

Attendance at OOC meetings in 2015 was as follows:

BRTE RS -

B HIB9IH R °

FRERI42T8 2235 o

RBENREN TIEEE -

FARSSMIRFERIE KT A E - ARI2(0 T

FHFEREE R REE R ENEHBREPT

EHRERRMENERRNEFEERS

s EBRNMAEME-

BIFERZ B RN2016FH R

JEEIT

Meetings attended/held

SEHE/BOIRE
Mr Wong Kai Man, BBS, JP' (Chairman) =R WEFAEE KFEHAL(ER) 6/6
Mr Jamie Allen NHEBEEE 3/6
Mr Chan Tze Ching, BBS, JP! PRI AEH 2 E  KFahtt 6/6
Mr Chew Fook Aun2 A% % &2 5/6
Mr Vincent Duhamel MEX R E 4/6
Mr Wilson Fung? o e N/A 7~ i 3
Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith' BRIKAR K A 5/5
Mr Stephen Taylor Stephen Taylor4t & 6/6
Mr Paul Winkelmann BEERELE 4/6
Mr Mark Dickens, JP (CEO) or WEBARFME (1THRABE) K
his representative (ex-officio) HRK(EAKE) 6/6
Average attendance rate EH W EE 85%
' Appointed with effect from 15 January 2015. T R2015F1 R15BEEE-

2 Term expired on 30 November 2015.
8 Appointed with effect from 1 January 2016.

2 {FHRM2015%11 B30H fEim °
3 20161 A1HERE-
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Remuneration Committee (RC)

Back row (from left): Ms Eirene Yeung, Mr Roger Best and Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith
B () BRSNS REFIKALEE
Front row (from left): Mr Mark Dickens, JP (ex-officio) and Dr John Poon, BBS, JP (Chairman)
AIHE () BB ATFL (BAKE) REEBARL WERAEE APt (EF)

Terms of reference

To make recommendations to the Council on staffing, remuneration
and employment policies and strategies, including salary structure,
terms and conditions of employment, and staff fringe benefits.

To make recommendations to the Council on the annual pay
adjustment and the amount of variable compensation payable to
individual staff members.

To make recommendations to the Council on the amount of variable
compensation payable to the CEQO.

To review the remuneration policy to ensure that it is consistent with
all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Summary of the work of the RC in 2015

Considered the recommendation concerning the award of
discretionary variable pay to the Deputy CEO for 2014.
Considered the recommendation for salary revision for staff in 2015.

Considered the performance appraisal of the CEO and the award of
discretionary variable pay.
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Attendance at RC meetings in 2015 was as follows:

FMEBSR2016FME AL EXMT

Meetings attended/held

SREE/BOIRE
Dr John Poon, BBS, JP (Chairman) EEBAEL  RAERFAEE KAFEHELT(ER) 2/2
Mr Roger Best' & 30 5 A 2/2
Mr Nicholas Sallnow-Smith BRI £ 2/2
Ms Eirene Yeung B Lt 2/2
Mr Mark Dickens, JP (CEO) (ex-officio) WEBRFHLE (1THER) (EAKE) 2/2
Average attendance rate YRR 100%
1 Appointed with effect from 15 January 2015. L MR2015F1 B15HEZ T

Operations
Enquiry - Financial Reporting Review Panel and Committee

In cases where the FRC believes there may be non-compliance in relation
to a listed entity, the Council may appoint a Financial Reporting Review
Committee (FRRC) to conduct an enquiry. The committee consists of a
Panel Convenor as Chairman, and at least four other members of the
Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP).

Under the powers vested in it under section 43 of the FRCO, the FRRC may
require relevant persons to produce records and documents and provide
information and explanations for the purposes of its enquiry.

Members of the FRRP are appointed by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR
in consultation with the Council. As at 31 December 2015, the FRRP had
47 members, including six Convenors. They are appointed based on their
experience in accounting, auditing, finance, banking, law, administration, or
management. A list of FRRP members can be found in the “Membership of
Board and Panels” section on pages 75 to 76 of this annual report.

A new FRRC was formed to deal with an enquiry initiated in 2015.
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Investigation — Audit Investigation Board (AIB)

The Council may direct the AIB to conduct investigations into possible
auditing or reporting irregularities in relation to listed entities. Under the
powers vested in it under sections 25, 26, 27 and 28 of the FRCO, the AIB
may require relevant persons to produce records and documents, supply
information and provide explanations for the purposes of its investigation.

The CEO of the FRC is the ex-officio Chairman of the AIB. Other members of
the AIB, who are normally staff members of the FRC, are appointed by the
Council. A list of AIB members can be found in the “Membership of Board
and Panels” section on page 76 of this annual report.

In 2015, the AIB completed four investigation cases. It also dealt with 28
investigation cases brought forward from the previous year, and 11 cases
initiated during the year.

Internal controls

The FRC maintains an effective internal control system that includes a
clear organizational structure, well-defined levels of authority, and proper
segregation of duties. The FRC assigns a director to take charge of each
case from the moment investigations/enquiries commence; at least one
other person at director level or above must review the case before any
decision or action is taken.

The FRC regularly reviews all its policies and guidelines relating to personnel
administration, procurement, authorization of transactions, and the
safeguarding of its assets.

Code of conduct

FRC staff members are required to adhere to the FRC’s code of conduct
when carrying out any role or activity on behalf of the FRC. This code of
conduct specifies standards to be followed in areas that involve potential
conflicts of interest, confidentiality of information, personal investments and
data protection. It includes a requirement for staff members to make regular
declarations of their own and their spouse’s investments, and to notify any
changes in their holdings.

The FRC’s code of conduct is reviewed and updated on a regular basis

to ensure that it remains consistent with current best practices across the
areas in which the FRC operates.
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Communication with stakeholders

The FRC actively communicates with its stakeholders, including its funding
parties, the accounting and auditing industry, its regulatory counterparts,
and the investing public.

Information disseminated by the FRC is user-friendly and easily accessible.
The FRC publishes annual reports and bi-annual eNews publications
to keep stakeholders informed about the progress of its work and
its development. Statistics relating to its operations and handling of
information requests, as well as press releases concerning cases
completed, are regularly published on the FRC website (www.frc.org.hk).

To improve the transparency of its work, the FRC has revamped its official
website to make navigation easier and to increase the amount of practical
and timely information available on it. The FRC has also set up official pages
on some social media channels to allow interested parties to connect in a
more interactive manner.

Checks and balances
Accountability and audit

The FRC adopts a strict audit process. The FRC’s annual budget must
be endorsed by the Council. The Secretary for Financial Services and the
Treasury then reviews and approves the FRC’s annual estimates of income
and expenditure.

The financial statements of the FRC are subject to an official audit by
the Government’s Director of Audit; annual reports are submitted to
the Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury and tabled at the
Legislative Council. The FRC attends the meeting of the Legislative Council
Panel on Financial Affairs and present a progress report annually.

Process Review Panel (PRP)

The FRC has its work scrutinized by a PRP. The aim of this is to ensure that
individual cases have been dealt with consistently, and that all actions and
decisions taken are in line with internal procedures and guidelines. The PRP
issues an annual report containing the conclusions of its review, together
with suggestions for improvements. All members of the PRP are appointed
by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR.

Ombudsman

The Ombudsman also indirectly oversees the work of the FRC by dealing
with any public complaints regarding alleged maladministration made
against the FRC and its staff. The FRC did not receive any enquiries from
the Ombudsman in 2015.
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ETEERRE

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region

Independent Audit Report
To the Financial Reporting Council

| have audited the financial statements of the Financial Reporting Council
set out on pages 40 to 53, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2015, and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Financial Reporting Council’s Responsibility for the
Financial Statements

The Financial Reporting Council is responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
section 18(2) of the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance (Cap 588) and
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as the Financial Reporting Council determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on my audit. | conducted my audit in accordance with section 19(1)
of the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance and the Audit Commission
auditing standards. Those standards require that | comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

Financial Reporting Council Annual Report 2015

& B 45 B T B AT
#F &t F

S 4
BN ETHRS
TS B 3R 3
HE B EH N F40E63E B T4 [E R /B &) B 75 5]
xR ZEUBRERBIEN2015512 A31 B B SR
NEEHEZALFENGEERAR B&E8HK
MEERER URTEBEHBEMES R E BT
fRIEEHL -

Bt 75 B ¥ = B A AR AR R R Y
B

B SR RER K B (HHERBIEA) (F588
%) F18QKR AR BREZNABART RS
MEBRE  RAEERALENAME - LA E
B R T BB SE R T B B A S8 8
B -

ETRHNEE
BONBEERREBEROEFEZEVBHRRIELE
R B BRI KM BERBE) E19)ERE
ENEEAETER G ERRRPETER
RE - WRE RNITER UEBRENBRERZ
BIEBEEMBARFERRAL -



An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Financial Reporting
Council, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Financial Reporting Council as at 31 December 2015,
and of its results of operations and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with section 18(2) of the Financial
Reporting Council Ordinance.

LAU Sun-wo
Assistant Director of Audit
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission

26th Floor, Immigration Tower
7 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

10 March 2016
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LB S

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #Z#&8 W AR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE2015F12A318 LEE
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (SBEAAETYIR)
Note
Bt 5 2015 2014
Income A
Annual contribution BEHRAES 4 27,960,000 19,448,100
Interest income F B A B 522,398 531,782
Recovery of costs of investigation AL AL 612,866 —
S ZilER i e

Expenditure X
Staff costs BIRA 6 (21,019,424) (19,698,946)
Corporate communications expenses — ## E H 7 (820,178) (754,075)
Audit oversight research and EFTEERE

related expenses Mg (508,000) (121,726)
Legal and professional fees ERREXER (100,493) (81,325)
Depreciation charge wESH 10 (102,768) (137,013)
Impairment loss on accounts BB, (BHER) EBRERZ

receivable reversed/(recognized) VERIEREES 11 23,625 (100,766)
Other operating expenses Efh &g 8 (683,278) (674,711)

B (21.568,562)

Surplus/(deficit) and total FREL (B &

comprehensive income HBERE WA

for the year 5,884,748 (1,588,680)
The notes on pages 44 to 53 form part of these financial statements. FAAE EE3E MM AR B RERO—ID -
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2015

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

B B 5iR R R

201512 H31H

(2RBUAETTIIR)

Note

B 5 2015 2014
Non-current assets FRBEE
Office equipment and furniture MAERERRA o 404,570 469,728
Current assets REEE
Receivables and prepayments B WBR 3} & TR A FRIE 11 720,998 647,951
Time deposits with original REEAE BB =1EA

maturities over three months EHFR 12 34,000,000 22,000,000

Cash and cash equivalents HeRReEEY 13 6,217,033 11,991,340
Total current assets MEEERAE 40,938,031 34,639,291
Current liabilities FREEE
Accounts payable and accruals ERERER KR ETEA (2,790,898) (2,442,064)
Net current assets re&EE®FE 38,147,133 . 32,197,227
Net assets EEFE 38,551,703 32,666,955
Funds =g
General fund —REE 14 18,551,703 12,666,955
Reserve fund HiES 14 20,000,000 20,000,000
Total funds wmas 38,551,703 32,666,955

Approved and authorized for issue by the Financial Reporting Council on

10 March 2016

—

201643 A 10 B ¥ 57 75 (& ) /Bt f M 3% 4 1 2%

Dr John Poon, BBS, JP & E L HEFE

Chairman T /&

The notes on pages 44 to 53 form part of these financial statements.

AN o

Mark Dickens, JP
Chief Executive Officer 7T 483

$44H B53H
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S A 4
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS EL2ER
For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE2015F12A31A LFE
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (SBEAAETYIR)
General fund Reserve fund Total funds
At 1 January 2014 H2014F1 A1H 14,255,635 20,000,000 34,255,635

Deficit and total comprehensive 2014F 54t R B A

income for 2014 LN (1,588,680) - (1,588,680)
At 31 December 2014 M2014F12H31H 12,666,955 20,000,000 32,666,955
At 1 January 2015 201541 H1H 12,666,955 20,000,000 32,666,955

Surplus and total comprehensive  2015F & Kk @i &

income for 2015 ' ON 5,884,748 - 5,884,748
At 31 December 2015 A2015%F12831H 18,551,703 20,000,000 38,551,703
The notes on pages 44 to 53 form part of these financial statements. FA4E ZE3EM T RAMBIRERE —F 5
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS BEmEx

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE2015F12A318 LEE
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (SBEAAETYIR)
Note
B 5 2015 2014
Cash flows from operating RETHEEN
activities RERE
Surplus/(deficit) for the year FREL (EAL) 5,884,748 (1,588,680)
Adjustments for: FHEIEE -
Depreciation charge wEXH 102,768 137,013
Impairment loss on accounts (B#E),/ B MR E WX
receivable (reversed)/recognized 2R EE K (23,625) 100,766
Interest income R B U A (522,398) (531,782)
5,441,493 (1,882,683)
Changes in working capital: CEEeE
Decrease in receivables JE 5 BR 5k K% B A5 5K TIE
and prepayments o 59,156 49,298
Increase in accounts payable ERERKETER
and accruals 310 348,834 850,658

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from E&EFBELNES

operating activities RAS CRE) B8 5,849,483 (982,727)
Cash flows from investing RETHEEMN

activities REeRE
Payment for the purchase of office BERAZRER

equipment and furniture RE KB (87,610) (16,757)
Interest received 2 U F & 413,820 499,210
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with R 2|5 B 88 =& A &

original maturities over three months FEEFR (M), R (12,000,000) 3,000,000

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from REZFHBELNES
investing activities (Rd) " RAFE (11,628,790) 3,482,453

Net (decrease)/increase in cash HE& KBS ZEEY
and cash equivalents (D) /L nF 58 (5,774,307) 2,499,726

Cash and cash equivalents MB1EZEER

at 1 January HEEEY 11,991,340 9,491,614
Cash and cash equivalents M12A31BZHER

at 31 December HEEEY 13 6,217,033 11,991,340
The notes on pages 44 to 53 form part of these financial statements. FA4E EE3E NI AN EHRERE —ZH o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2015
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(@)

(b)

General Information

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) was established in Hong Kong
under the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance (Cap 588) (FRCO).
Its office address is 29th Floor, High Block, Queensway Government
Offices, 66 Queensway, Hong Kong.

Principal Activities

As set out in the FRCO, the FRC is empowered to conduct
investigations concerning auditing and reporting irregularities in
relation to entities listed in Hong Kong, and to make enquiries into
non-compliance with accounting requirements on the part of such
entities.

Significant Accounting Policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention and are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
functional currency of the FRC.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Financial Reporting Council Annual Report 2015

B 75 FR R M EE
HE2015F12A31B ILEE
(£FEABTIIR)

—RER

EERBRRIE (MIBERBDIEL) (5
588F ) EBR B R - Hibit BE B fE1E66
e EERTE B E0E -

FEEE

KIS HE R BRI A58 - M ERBE
BTEANBEA LT EBEERN MNERTE
W TETRETHE UEZEER T ER
BRRENEERFAEA

FESFTBR
L
AT A T R ER A T R AR AT AL -

Ea
R MR ERIBE LK AERR - W AT
EREBAI I EBHEITIR -

B AR BT A IR RS 3RS A e B A5
WEREF AHERASTRRBROTE AR
HEE BE RANMIHHORESBBERD
T8 EHHE - AETARER - B LA FT AR
AERRERBATERNZEERERRBR
BEMNEMRARMEL  MASERTIBEH
EERBRAELZEEBREMKRESNHE
EMAEREENEE BERERTEE N
AR



(b)

(c)

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revision to an accounting estimate is recognized in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by the FRC in the application of IFRSs that have
significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 16.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the FRC
is set out below.

Office equipment and furniture

Office equipment and furniture are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except that items costing less
than $5,000 are expensed when incurred. The cost of an item of office
equipment and furniture comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for its intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of office equipment and furniture over its estimated useful
life after considering its estimated residual value. The respective useful
lives are as follows:

Computers 3 years
Other office equipment 7 years
Office furniture and fixtures 10 years

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting
period.

An item of office equipment and furniture is derecognized upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition is determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognized in surplus or
deficit in the period in which the asset is derecognized.

(c)
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Office equipment and furniture (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the FRC assesses whether there
is any indication that an item of office equipment and furniture may be
impaired or a previously recognized impairment loss no longer exists
or may have decreased. When there is an indication of impairment,
the recoverable amount of an item of office equipment and furniture
is estimated, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. An impairment loss is recognized in surplus or
deficit, if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its recoverable
amount. When a previously recognized impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the
asset in prior periods. Reversals of impairment losses are recognized
in surplus or deficit.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the statement
of financial position when the FRC becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of an instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or issue of financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Financial assets of the FRC principally include accounts receivable,
interest receivable, time deposits and other bank balances. They
are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows. The contractual terms of
financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance
for impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognized when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Any impairment
loss is recognized in surplus or deficit and reflected in an allowance
account. When the FRC considers that there are no realistic prospects
of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off.
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(e)

()

(9)

(h)

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in surplus
or deficit, to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not
exceed its amortized cost that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognized.

A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows
from the asset have expired or the FRC has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable and are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method subsequent to initial
recognition.

A financial liability is derecognized when the relevant obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with maturity
within three months when placed or acquired, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable.

Unconditional and non-refundable contributions are recognized as
income when they become receivable.

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Recovery of costs of investigation is recognized when the right to
receive is established.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Employee benefits

Salaries and paid annual leave are accrued in the period in which the
employees rendered the associated services.

Bonus payments are recognized when the FRC has a present legal
or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past
events and a reliable estimate can be made.

Contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme are
recognized as an expense when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. The assets of the MPF
scheme are held separately from those of the FRC in an independently
administered fund. The employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF scheme, except for the
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the FRC when
the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting
fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF scheme.

Annual Contribution

The Companies Registry Trading Fund (CRTF), the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), the Securities
and Futures Commission (SFC) and the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited (HKEx) signed a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) regarding the funding arrangement of the FRC. Each party
agreed to contribute an annual amount of $7.0 million to the FRC
in 2015 (2014: $4.9 million) for the recurring expenses. To cater for
inflation adjustments and to provide greater certainty to the FRC to
facilitate its development and future work plan, the annual contribution
from each party for 2016 shall be increased to approximately $7.3
million.

The office premises of the FRC are provided by the CRTF at a nominal
rent of $1 per annum. All the related utility and sewage charges,
outgoings, costs and expenses incurred in repairing, maintaining and
managing the office premises are borne by the CRTF.

Interest Income

Interest income was earned from time deposits and other bank
balances.
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Staff Costs 6. BEI A
2015 2014
Salaries, bonuses and gratuities - B4 &E"” & 19,083,476 18,326,395
MPF contributions R NES G 772,604 729,015
Staff recruitment expenses BEETIXH 479,659 4,340
Medical and life insurance BERASRE 461,190 448,024
Staff training and development B THIIRFEERE 118,141 93,516
Others Hib 104,354 97,656
21,019,424 19,698,946
Except for the Chief Executive Officer, Council members are not BRITRBEIN BIEERBENE L EMNS -
remunerated. The above staff costs included the emoluments of the A EBTHAD BETHRAHINE3,922,194
Chief Executive Officer amounting to $3,922,194 (2014: $3,697,902), 7¢ (20144F : 3,697,9027T) * & B & H B &
which comprised salary and bonus of $3,877,295 (2014: $3,654,545), 1£413,877,2957T (20144 : 3,654,5457T )
medical insurance of $26,899 (2014: $26,607) and MPF contributions %%% 226,899t (20144 : 26,6077T) & 58
of $18,000 (2014: $16,750). | 14 A 7 4 £ 318,0007T (20144 : 16,750
JL) °
Corporate Communications Expenses 7. MEERXH
2015 2014
Promotion and public education HERAEHE 584,752 551,649
Publications o iR T4 201,244 194,606
Others Hib 34,182 7,820
820,178 754,075
Other Operating Expenses 8. HMh=ZEEZH
2015 2014
Conferences and duty visits SENRERER 152,709 193,955
Professional liability insurance EEEH T RK 25,150 25,150
Office equipment and furniture expensed MAERHEREERAT 19,111 20,401
Printing, stationery and office expenses TE - XAERPAERET 486,308 435,205
683,278 674,711

In accordance with section 19 of the FRCO, the Audit Commission
of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
audits the financial statements of the FRC. The Commission does not
charge for this service.

RIE (A BERBDIED)) F19& - BBERIT
BR BT 2 a1 B2 i 75 SR B O BA T 3Rk
ErTEWEB ARG WERER -
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10.

Taxation 9. ®i1g
Pursuant to section 16 of the FRCO, the FRC is exempt from taxation BIE (B BERBIRO) F165  MBERB
under the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap 112). BERemEEBRE (RBHEGHND) (F1128)
i
Office Equipment and Furniture 10. A EREREEA
Other Office
office furniture
Computers equipment and fixtures Total
Http A= WAERE
B B R#E a5
Cost B
At 1 January 2014 M2014%F1 18 512,672 144,891 494,144 1,151,707
Additions BA 9,280 - - 9,280
Disposals RE (1,460) - - (1,460)
At 31 December 2014 R2014%12R318 57270147972 777777 17474187971 777777 4:974,717474 77777 1 7175975?77 B
At 1 January 2015 M2015%1 A1H 520,492 144,891 494,144 1,159,527
Additions BA 29,680 - 7,930 37,610
At 31 December 2015 m2015%12/8316 57570117772 777777 1747418791 777777 570721077f17 - 7111792,71 ?Z |
Accumulated depreciation ZiiFE
At 1 January 2014 #2014 1 818 (387,488) (99,400) (67,358) (554,246)
Charge for the year FARAZ M (74,366) (13,233) (49,414) (137,013)
Written back on disposals RERERD 1,460 = = 1,460
At 31 December 2014 1201412 A31H - ,(ALG,OLS,%, - ,(1,1,2L6,3§), - 7(17176,777772)7 - £67897799)7
At 1 January 2015 #2015%1 818 (460,394) (112,633) (116,772) (689,799)
Charge for the year FARAZ M (45,123) (7,900) (49,745) (102,768)
At 31 December 2015 2015512831 H - 7(57075157177)7 - 7(17270157353)7 - 7(176761571 Zl - £779?,75§Z)7
Net book value REFRE
At 31 December 2015 1201512831 H 44,655 24,358 335,557 404,570
At 31 December 2014 M2014%F12A31H 60,098 32,258 377,372 469,728
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11.

12.

Receivables and Prepayments

1. RUERR N FE A4 IR

2015 2014
Accounts receivable JrE Wt BR 3R 132,657 156,282
Less: allowance for impairment loss OB E B R EEER (77,125) (100,750)
55,5632 55,5632
Prepayments TE A
— Medical and life insurance — BENASRR 253,205 244,881
— Staff benefits — BIwEA 24,850 27,420
— Professional liability insurance — BERERR 13,589 13,589
— Others — HAfth 61,659 102,944
Interest receivable JE U F) & 312,163 203,585
720,998 647,951

The accounts receivable mainly represented the recoverable costs of
investigations. The movement in the allowance for impairment loss in
respect of accounts receivable during the year is as follows:

FEU AR SR = R I T & R0 AT UL I A A - F A R UK
RFRERRBERESHNT

2015 2014
At 1 January M1 A18 100,750 -
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognized (B#ED), BERRERK (23,625) 100,766
Uncollectible amount written off MsE Ak D& 58 - (16)
At 31 December W12A31H 77,125 100,750

The remaining balances of accounts receivable after impairment
allowance are past due but not impaired.

Time Deposits with Original Maturities over
Three Months

Time deposits with original maturities over three months represented
six-month and one-year term deposits which carried fixed interest
ranging from 0.75% to 1.34% (2014: 1.44% to 1.52%) per annum.
The balances outstanding at 31 December 2015 and 2014 had
maturities less than 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

12.
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13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

13. RERREFEY

2015 2014
Cash on hand FHERE 3,426 3,893
Current accounts S EREHTER 238,908 134,453
Savings account BETR 374,699 352,994
Time deposits with original maturities REBAENEA=EA K
within three months TE BT R 5,600,000 11,500,000
6,217,033 11,991,340
14. Funds 14. 6%
General fund represents the operating surplus of the FRC’s recurrent —RESTIEVEERREEHELHNKE
funding. BfRo

Reserve fund represents the non-recurrent contributions received from
the CRTF, the HKICPA, the SFC and the HKEX at the establishment of
the FRC according to the MoU. Each party contributed a lump-sum
amount of $5 million which is not refundable. The reserve fund is to be
deployed to meet any inadequacies of the recurrent funding and other
exigencies of circumstances.

15. Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments by category are as

BHRSEAREMELEELS FEGHMQ
g BEEMERMRIEFREE TSR
[ERBEMRANGEREEES - FHBIRA
—ETHRE ABIBETNES MBS
AREEHEES TR REMERBERTEHA -

15. €T A

ERERMTANRESEMNT

follows:
2015 2014
Financial assets REBERAR AT E MW
at amortized cost SRMEE
Accounts receivable JiE U BR 3R 55,532 55,532
Interest receivable FEWFI B 312,163 203,585
Time deposits with original maturities REEAB BB =1EA &
over three months EHF R 34,000,000 22,000,000
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 6,217,033 11,991,340
40,584,728 34,250,457
Financial liabilities at REERAR AT E W
amortized cost SREE
Accounts payable and accruals ENEREESER 2,790,898 2,442 064

The carrying amounts of the FRC’s financial assets and financial
liabilities approximate to their fair values as at 31 December 2015 and
2014.
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16. Financial Risks

(@

(b)

(c)

Credit risk

The FRC’s credit risk is primarily attributable to accounts receivable,
time deposits and other bank balances.

The accounts receivable are assessed for recoverability on an
individual basis and impairment allowances are recognized when
considered necessary. The recovery of the investigation costs is
closely monitored by the Council. The FRC does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over these balances.

The Council approved an investment policy which, subject to other
limits, only allows the FRC to place deposits with licensed banks in
Hong Kong having regard to the credit rating. The policy also limits the
amount placed with each bank and the maximum duration the deposit
is placed in order to manage its credit risk.

The portfolio of deposits is managed and monitored to ensure it
meets the investment policy with bi-monthly reports submitted to the
Council. As a result, the FRC is not exposed to significant credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of the financial assets as set out in the statement of financial
position.

Liquidity risk

The FRC has a strong cash position and therefore has a very low level
of liquidity risk. The FRC maintains sufficient levels of cash and cash
equivalents and manages its working capital by carefully reviewing
forecasts on a regular basis. All financial liabilities were due to be
repaid within three months (2014: three months) from the end of the
reporting period.

Market risk

Currency risk

The FRC received its funding and settled its expenses in Hong Kong
dollars. Its financial assets and financial liabilities were all denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. Hence, the FRC was not exposed to any
currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The FRC's interest bearing assets mainly comprised funds placed in
time deposits with fixed interest rate which are measured at amortized
cost in the financial statements. The FRC was subject to the risk
that the fair value of these time deposits would fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. In order to manage this risk, the FRC
adopted a policy to monitor interest rate risk on a continuous basis.

16.
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Key operations statistics

FEEEHE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Pursuable complaints received
B A RE R 7 19 20 &3 46
Modified auditors’ reports screened
ERMAFEEREE R RBMRE 131 138 168 171 174
Financial statements selected for review
B HE (EE B0 B Bk 70 75 75 87 75
Investigations completed
A AE A E 2 5 9 5 4 9
Enquiries completed
TEAK A LA fE 2R 2 1 2 1 0
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Complaints & i

Stock markets on which companies/securities involved in pursuable complaints are listed

BRABRERFNLR /BHHELETHRRED S

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Source of pursuable complaints
] B8 A 1% 5 09 SRR

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Financial Reporting Council Annual Report 2015

W GEM Board
BlIZER

" Main Board
FIR

M Listed on GEM and subsequently on Main Board
FIRTERIFR R F MR BT

[ Members of the public
RNRNE

[/ Anonymous
BB AL

[l Regulators
Be S L

m B

[ Both regulators and members of the public

REREEERERARAL

I Complaints received from both regulators and
anonymous source

FIESRAGEEMEBRERAL



Nature of complaints
RFMHEE

[ Both auditing and/or reporting irregularities
and non-compliance with aocountlng reqU|rements

ﬂhiﬁ&%#&/‘kl‘i#ﬁT\ 1TRRTER
BHRESE

[/ Non-compliance with accounting requirements
NEN SR EFH

B Auditing and/or repomng irregularities
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 B R | KERTETAH

Size of accounting firms involved in complaints
BRBFHE AT HRE

[ Small-size accounting firms
(with five or less partners/directors)

NRIEERITT (B RESATHEBA / ESF)

" Medium-size accounting firms
(with six or more partners/directors)

HREIGSHENTT (B RBHALNERA / EE)

[l Big Four accountlng firms
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 IR EEHRIFT
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Proactive review
Screening and review of modified auditors’ reports

The FRC screened all 174 (2014: 171) modified auditors’ reports issued
in 2015. There were 184 (2014: 184) modifications and 216 (2014: 207)
issues as some modified auditors’ reports contained more than one
modification and/or more than one issue. No review was performed when
a modification related only to an emphasis of matter. The FRC reviewed all
other modified auditors’ reports and made inquiries when appropriate.

Number of modified auditors’ reports screened
ERENEEREZ RRHMRE

FEEH
BREREHFEREERREMBS
NEWE T AR0ERRNIIFEREE R
HEMHRE 1741 (2014F 17115) - HREP D FEE
RBERZEMBES RSN —HIFERBERR
/HER—ERE B EEREERER 1847
(20144 : 18478 ) & i RE 42 8L H£216%8 (2014%F ¢
207%8) cWEZBMRIREELNFE  AIABTE
EH -AREHTHBEEMIEREE R ZHANR
HOURRBEERELRME-

174
168 171
+ “.
131 lsg
O
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Analysis by modification
FERESRZBEAMENEED N

1%

2014 2015

Analysis by issue
FERESRZBERENEED T

2014 2015
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Emphasis of matter
E e

Quialified opinion
REBR

Disclaimer of opinion
TERER

Adverse opinion

Going concern
FHEREEED
Insufficient information
BRI R

Business uncertainty
#i5 T RAEREER

Lack of proper books and records
REBEZENERE Mtk



Review of financial statements

The FRC selected 75 sets of financial statements for comprehensive review
in the 2015 review cycle under its risk-based financial statements review

FER B RE

AER2015% BB RRERB S B HRNERH
FHEIRTSM M MRERERMN - R TRER B

programme, and the breakdown by selection criteria is as follows: DEAT

Newly-listed entities

MEmER

Frequent change of directors and senior management
REEMEZRSRITHRAR

Change of auditors

L2l

Listed entities using ASBE

EAKEEESHEAD EhEE

Engaging overseas auditors

S gz ERAm

Listed entities whose audit firm is small in relation to the complexity
of the audit

S F/ N B B IR A A Y B R R

@ Alleged non-compliance with accounting requirements and/or auditing or
reporting irregularities; listed entities subject to intervention by HKEx and
the SFC; or prolonged suspended listed entities (other than shells)
PRATERETRETER / IAEBAXERTETR  WEIARBES
NARLETER : siRPER EHEE(ZERARGRI)

@ Financial statements with prior period adjustments suggesting investors

relying on prior period financial statements may have been misled
TEH AT R IR R (RE B X Z A AV B HmEARE)

@ Industry theme — property development
THEFEB - HEHE

13%

13% 4%

2015

Traffic of the FRC website B TS PE 3R B 4 uh B B R

Number of visits to the website
IR ETIRE
(2011-2015)

100,191
76,690
66,468
42,696
32,399 I
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
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Summaries of completed investigations
The FRC completed nine investigation cases in 2015.

Case 1
Inconsistent audit evidence obtained

Background

The company acquired a group of companies (Acquired Group). The
consideration for the acquisition was determined based on the adjusted
net assets value of the major subsidiary (Subsidiary A) of the Acquired
Group at the date of the acquisition, which was defined as the net assets
value of Subsidiary A excluding its deferred tax liabilities. Prior to the
acquisition, a loan was injected into Subsidiary A by the company’s major
shareholder through another subsidiary in the Acquired Group. This loan
was accounted for as a liability in the financial statements of Subsidiary
A which were used in determining the consideration for the acquisition.
However, it was accounted for as equity, i.e. capital contribution from the
shareholder, in the financial statements of the Acquired Group at the date
of the acquisition and in calculating the gain on bargain purchase of the
Acquired Group.

The company had made prior year adjustments in its subsequent financial
statements to restate the gain on bargain purchase of the Acquired Group
previously recognized on the basis that the loan injected into Subsidiary A
by the company’s major shareholder should be a liability, instead of equity.

Issues
Whether the auditor had obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support:

(@ the recognition of the loan injected into Subsidiary A as equity; and
(b) the audit opinion expressed on the relevant financial statements.

Analysis

1. The auditor obtained inconsistent audit evidence in relation to the
nature of the loan injected into Subsidiary A from different sources.
However, the auditor failed to perform additional audit procedures to
resolve the inconsistency in the audit evidence obtained.

2. Accordingly, the auditor failed to identify the non-compliance and
modify their audit opinion on the relevant financial statements in
respect of the accounting treatment of the loan.

Conclusion
There were auditing irregularities and the report has been referred to the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) for follow-

up.
Reminder

The auditor should perform additional audit procedures to resolve the
inconsistency in the audit evidence obtained.

Financial Reporting Council Annual Report 2015
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Case 2
Sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence

Background

An investigation relating to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 (the 2009 Financial
Statements) was completed in March 2012. The investigation concluded
that (i) there were auditing irregularities as the auditor expressed an
unmodified auditor’s opinion despite the fact that there were multiple
issues of non-compliance with accounting requirements relating to a
business combination in the 2009 Financial Statements; and (i) the
subcontracted engagement quality control reviewer of the audit of the
2009 financial statements (the EQCR) failed to properly perform the
engagement quality control review.

The EQCR later became the engagement director for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010
(the 2010 Financial Statements), which is the subject matter of this
investigation.

The FRC found that the above non-compliance with accounting
requirements remained material in the 2010 Financial Statements but
the comparative information in the 2010 Financial Statements was not
properly restated.

Issues

Whether the auditor was aware of the possible misstatement in the
comparative information in the 2010 Financial Statements and whether
the auditor had obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to ensure the comparative information included in the 2010 Financial
Statements had been presented, in all material respects, in accordance
with the requirements for comparative information in the applicable
financial reporting framework.

Analysis
The auditor failed to:

(@) perform such additional audit procedures as are necessary in the
circumstances to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
determine whether a material misstatement in the comparative
information exists;

(b) obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to be able to draw
reasonable conclusions on which to base the audit opinion;

(c) evaluate the conclusions drawn from the audit evidence obtained as
the basis for forming an opinion on the 2010 Financial Statements;
and

(d) express a modified audit opinion in the auditor’s report on the 2010
Financial Statements with respect to the corresponding figures.
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The engagement director also failed to appoint an engagement quality
control reviewer for the audit of the 2010 Financial Statements.

The FRC also found that the engagement director failed to maintain
professional knowledge and skill at the level required and act diligently.

Conclusion
There were auditing irregularities and the investigation report has been
referred to the HKICPA for follow-up.

Reminders

If the auditor becomes aware of a possible material misstatement in the
comparative information while performing the current period audit, the
auditor shall perform such additional audit procedures as are necessary
in the circumstances to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
determine whether a material misstatement exists.

If the auditor obtains audit evidence that a material misstatement exists
in the prior period financial statements on which an unmodified opinion
has been previously issued, and the corresponding figures have not
been properly restated, the auditor shall express a qualified opinion or
an adverse opinion in the auditor’s report on the current period financial
statements, modified with respect to the corresponding figures included
therein.

Case 3

Audit evidence collected by the successor auditor

Background

There were multiple issues of non-compliance with accounting
requirements in relation to a business combination completed two years
ago, which had not been identified by the predecessor auditor and had not
been corrected in subsequent years’ financial statements until an enquiry
was initiated by a regulator.

Issues

Whether the successor auditor had obtained sufficient appropriate audit
evidence on the opening balances and the comparative information of the
financial statements in its initial audit engagement.

Analysis

The auditor should be able to identify the apparent non-compliance with
accounting requirements through a diligent review of the most recent
financial statements.
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The investigation revealed that the auditor failed to:

(@)

maintain sufficient professional skepticism recognizing that the
opening balances and the comparative information might contain
uncorrected material misstatements;

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether the
opening balances and the comparative information contained
misstatements that materially affected the current year’s financial
statements;

express a modified auditor’s opinion on the financial statements
given that the opening balances and the comparative information
contained material misstatements;

record the result and conclusion of the audit procedures performed,
who performed the audit work and the date such work was
completed and who reviewed the audit work performed and the date
and extent of such review; and

identify the director responsible for the performance of the audit
engagement in the audit engagement letter, and the auditor failed to
state his full name and practicing certificate number as appearing in
his practising certificate in the audit report of the financial statements
as the auditor was a corporate practice.

The AIB also found that the engagement director failed to maintain
professional knowledge and skill at the level required and failed to act
diligently.

Conclusion
There were auditing irregularities and the report has been referred to the
HKICPA for follow-up.

Reminders
The auditor, in its audit engagement, should:

(@)

read the most recent financial statements, if any, and the
predecessor auditor’s report thereon, if any, for information relevant
to opening balances, including disclosures;

perform such additional audit procedures as are appropriate in
the circumstances to determine the effect on the current period’s
financial statement if the auditor obtains audit evidence that
the opening balances and the comparative information contain
misstatements that could materially affect the current period’s
financial statements; and
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(c) express a qualified opinion or an adverse opinion, as appropriate,
if the auditor concludes that the opening balances and the
comparative information contain a misstatement that materially
affects the current period’s financial statements, and the effect of the
misstatement is not appropriately accounted for or not adequately
presented or disclosed.

Case 4
Quality control system for engagement documentation

Background
The engagement director was unable to provide the engagement
documentation of three audit engagements.

Issues

Whether the auditor had established and maintained a system of quality
control that included policies and procedures that addressed engagement
documentation.

Analysis

There was repeated failure to provide the relevant engagement
documentation without reasonable excuse. The firm’s responsible
personnel was unable to provide any evidence to support that a system of
quality control relating to engagement documentation was in place at the
time of the relevant audits.

The auditor failed to maintain a system of quality control for ensuring
the safe custody, integrity, accessibility and retrievability of engagement
documentation.

The firm’s responsible personnel failed to act diligently under applicable
technical and professional standards when providing professional
services.

Conclusion
There were auditing irregularities and the investigation report has been
referred to the HKICPA for follow-up.

Reminders

The auditor should establish and maintain a system of quality control
designed to maintain the safe custody, integrity, accessibility and
retrievability of engagement documentation.

The firm’s managing board of partners (or equivalent) should assume
ultimate responsibility of the firm’s system of quality control.
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Case 5

Income tax provision

Background

The listed entity made a restatement to correct the understatement of tax
provision in relation to the gain on disposal of certain land and buildings
(the Disposal) in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2013. The income tax provision relating to the gain on the
Disposal was not determined in accordance with the relevant tax laws in
its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
(2012 Financial Statements).

Issues

Whether the auditor had performed adequate audit procedures to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support their unmodified audit
opinion on the 2012 Financial Statements.

Analysis

The investigation revealed that the auditor did not perform adequate audit
procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to substantiate
that the income tax provision relating to the gain on the Disposal was
determined in accordance with the relevant tax laws.

Conclusion
There were auditing irregularities and the investigation report has been
referred to the HKICPA for follow-up.

Reminder

Auditors should perform adequate procedures during their audit to help
identify instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and should
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support their opinion on the
financial statements.

Case 6

Evaluation on management’s assessment of the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern and recognition of deferred tax
liabilities

Background

The relevant financial statements disclosed that there existed a material
uncertainty relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
might cast significant doubt on the listed entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern. The management concluded that the use of the going
concern assumption in preparing the relevant financial statements was
still appropriate, the validity of which depended upon the financial support
from the substantial shareholders.
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The listed entity did not recognize deferred tax liabilities on taxable
temporary differences arising from the fair value adjustments of the
intangible assets acquired in a business combination.

The auditor expressed an unmodified auditor’s opinion on the relevant
financial statements.

Issues

Whether the auditor had properly evaluated the management’s
assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and
the recognition of deferred tax liabilities relating to temporary differences
arising from the fair value adjustment of the intangible assets acquired in
the business combination.

Analysis
The AIB found that the auditor failed to:

(@) obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to properly evaluate the
management’s assessment of the listed entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern, in particular, confirming the existence of the
arrangement to provide financial support by certain substantial
shareholders and assessing the financial ability of such parties to
provide additional funds;

(b) request written representations from the management regarding their
plans for future action and the feasibility of those plans relating to
going concern;

(c) include an emphasis of matter paragraph in the auditor’s report to
highlight the existence of a material uncertainty relating to the event
or condition that might cast significant doubt on the listed entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern; and

(d) identify the above non-compliance with accounting requirements
relating to the business combination and form an appropriate
opinion on whether the relevant financial statements were prepared,
in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework.

The AIB also found that the engagement director failed to maintain
professional knowledge and skill at the level required and failed to act
diligently.

Conclusion

There were auditing irregularities and the investigation report has been
referred to the HKICPA for follow-up.
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Reminders
The auditor should:

(@) perform additional audit procedures when events or conditions
have been identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, including confirming the
existence, legality and enforceability of arrangements to provide or
maintain financial support with related and third parties, assessing
the financial ability of such parties to provide additional funds and
requesting written representations from management and, where
appropriate, those charged with governance, regarding their plans
for future action and the feasibility of these plans; and

(b) critically evaluate whether the management of the listed entity
had appropriately recognized deferred tax on taxable temporary
differences arising from fair value adjustments of assets acquired in
a business combination in accordance with the requirements of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

Case 7

Multiple auditing irregularities

Background

The listed entity made certain restatements to correct the misstatements
in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries, impairment of goodwill,
customer loyalty programme, leasehold improvements, and provisions
for social insurance and contingent rental in its consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010. These misstatements
were not correctly accounted for in its consolidated financial statements
for the years ended 31 December 2008 (the 2008 Financial Statements)
and 31 December 2009 (the 2009 Financial Statements).

Issues

(@ Whether the auditor had obtained sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to support the recognition and/or measurement of the
abovementioned transactions and balances in the 2008 Financial
Statements and/or the 2009 Financial Statements.

(b)  Whether the engagement quality control reviews for the audits of the
2008 Financial Statements and the 2009 Financial Statements had
been properly performed.

Analysis
(@ The investigation revealed that the auditor failed to:

()  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the
recognition and/or measurement of the above mentioned
transactions and balances;
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(i)  perform audit procedures to support that the work of a
valuation expert was adequate for the audit;

(i) prepare sufficient audit documentation that enabled an
experienced auditor, having no previous connection with
the audit, to understand the results of the audit procedures
performed, the audit evidence obtained and the conclusion
reached;

(iv) obtain sufficient audit evidence to support the fair value
measurement and the reasonableness of the accounting
estimates;

(v) assess whether the aggregate uncorrected misstatements
should be adjusted;

(vi) develop expectations in the substantive analytical procedures
performed, which were sufficiently precise to identify a material
misstatement at the desired level of assurance; and

(vii) modify their audit opinion on the relevant financial statements.

(b) The investigation also revealed that no engagement quality control
reviewer was appointed and no engagement quality control
reviews were performed for the audits. The roles of the two senior
engagement team members in the audits were unclear. As they were
both heavily involved, they were both responsible for the audits.

Conclusion
There were auditing irregularities and the report has been referred to the
HKICPA for follow-up.

Reminders
Auditors should maintain their professional knowledge and skill at the level
required and act diligently during the course of the audits.

The roles of the key engagement team members should be clearly stated

in the audit documentation. An engagement partner should appoint an
engagement quality control reviewer for each audit.
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Case 8
Using the work of the management’s expert

Background

The listed entity engaged a valuation expert to assist in determining
the recoverable amounts of the interests in a jointly controlled entity
and an associate at the end of each reporting period for the purpose of
impairment assessment. The listed entity recognized impairment loss or
reversed previously recognized impairment loss relating to the investments
in the relevant financial statements. The auditor used the work of the
management’s expert in the relevant audits.

Issues

Whether the auditor had obtained sufficient appropriate evidence on the
work of the management’s expert in the audit of the interest in the jointly
controlled entity and the associate.

Analysis

The investigation revealed that the auditor failed to exercise sufficient
professional skepticism and obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
in:

(@ evaluating the reasonableness of certain significant assumptions
used in the work of the management’s expert for the valuations of the
interests in the jointly controlled entity and the associate;

(b) evaluating the appropriateness of the use of that expert’s work as
audit evidence; and

(c) assessing whether any safeguards were imposed by the listed entity
to reduce possible threats to the objectivity of the in-house expert in
preparing the forecasts and projections.

The AIB found that the engagement quality control reviewers failed to
identify the above audit deficiencies and perform proper engagement
quality control reviews.

The AIB also found that the engagement director failed to act diligently
according to the applicable technical and professional standards when
providing professional services in the relevant audits.

Conclusion
There were auditing irregularities and the investigation report has been
referred to the HKICPA for follow-up.

Reminder

The auditor should critically review the reasonableness of the assumptions
used by the management’s expert and evaluate the appropriateness of
the work of the management’s expert as audit evidence. The auditor
should determine whether to use the work of an auditor’'s expert as
appropriate.
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Case 9

Initial measurement of financial assets acquired and
consideration given

Background

The company issued convertible notes to acquire an equity investment
and to pay a deposit for acquiring further equity interest in the equity
investment. Both the equity investment and the deposit payment were
initially measured at the principal amounts of the convertible notes.

Issues

Whether the auditor had performed procedures to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence on the initial measurement of the financial
asset acquired, the deposit payment made and the convertible notes
issued according to the applicable auditing standards.

Analysis

The equity investment and the deposit payment should be initially
measured at the fair values of the convertible notes. Measuring the equity
investment and the deposit payment at the principal amounts of the
convertible notes was an accounting non-compliance, unless the principal
amounts and the acquisition-date fair values of the convertible notes are
the same.

The investigation revealed that the auditor failed to perform or sufficiently
perform procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on the
initial measurement of the financial assets acquired, the deposit payment
made and the convertible notes issued according to the relevant auditing
standards.

The engagement quality control reviewer did not properly perform the
engagement quality control review as he failed to identify the above
deficiencies during his review of the audit working papers.

Both the engagement partner and the engagement quality control
reviewer failed to act diligently according to the applicable technical and
professional standards when providing professional services in the audit.

Decision
There were auditing irregularities and the report has been referred to the
HKICPA for follow-up.

Reminders

Auditors should critically evaluate whether the management of the
company had appropriately applied the requirements of the applicable
financial reporting standards regarding financial instruments.
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FRC Decisions

This section comprises decisions on cases which did not require
investigations or enquiries. This aims to enhance our transparency and
market understanding of the best practice in applying accounting and
auditing standards. The FRC issued four FRC Decisions in 2015.

Decision 1

Recognition of deferred tax liability on revaluation gain

Issue

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities on fair value adjustments when
owner-occupied property became an investment property to be carried at
fair value.

Analysis

A few years ago, a subsidiary of the company recognized a revaluation
gain directly in equity when certain owner-occupied properties became
investment properties as a result of a change in use according to ASBE 3
Investment Property. However, the related deferred tax liability on the
revaluation gain upon transfer of owner-occupied properties to investment
properties was not recognized in accordance with ASBE 18 Income Taxes
(ASBE 18).

The deferred tax liability on the above revaluation gain should have been
recognized directly in equity in accordance with ASBE 18. However, as the
amount was immaterial to the consolidated financial statements, the issue
was not further pursued.

Decision

The issue was not pursued as the unrecognized deferred tax liability was
immaterial. Nevertheless, we issued a letter of advice to the company in
this respect.

Reminder
Management of listed entities should observe the requirements of ASBE
18 when preparing their financial statements.

Decision 2

Classification of income tax liabilities

Issues

Income tax payments were lower than the amounts provided in the
financial statements for a number of years. Certain estimated tax liabilities
arising from temporary differences were not properly classified.

MIEEHREIRR
EHBSBENBERRLEEERNBEREH
MERERSHRE RAAZHLRSAFBR
MERE RS T REREH REHEANE
G 5 o B 75 98 /R 542015 He ¢ 7 B 75 E 9
PR -

RE—
HEMWSEENELERSHAGENER

&
HERAFHEERARBAABEEAGENR
BEFEHER - FHBRA AL BEMELNRER
SHEERRER -

B
REFRT - REINME A REYE (BE e ERE

B{—REMFSHE) MRE RETEREHE
RSN E AR AR hER  BENREER

REBEEHKE  BERRAEN (CEGFHE
A8 — A2 5) ((EEEFEAIFE18%) )
AR E - HE AR B BB ik e R T EE AR MV AR BRR FE PR 1S
BEE-

S b aR E A RRIEPTIS T A BB (B
FEtEAE18R) AT ERENRRERE
TTHER - AT - AR ZIRIEF ST B B EEN AR
SUMBHERLTERN  HARRE E—FRE

o o

RE
RREERNEERMSHABNEBL AEKX
BRENMERE - BEWU ABEAATARHEH
It R B R K o

FEHE
THEREREERNRRYBHRRE BEE (&
F ST ERIEA8R) MARTE

o

REZ

FIeiasgmnosE

g

S8 60 2 1 8 % (B 4 FE BL A2 B 75 3R 3% PO o 3%

BEEAR - MEREZEEENETHFEHRE
BfFT SN BT IER-

BIISESRE 20155 5K

71



OPERATIONS REVI EW (continued)

72

B[R @

Analysis

There is timing difference in reporting sales transaction to tax authority and
providing for tax liability in the relevant financial statements. The group had
accrued and gradually paid the related income tax liability.

Certain estimated tax liabilities arising from temporary differences were
incorrectly classified as current tax liabilities. These tax liabilities should be
classified as deferred tax liabilities.

Decision

There is no significant non-compliance with HKAS 12 /ncome Tax (HKAS
12); hence, the issues were not pursued further. Nevertheless, we wrote
to the company to highlight the classication deficiencies.

Reminder

Management of listed entities should observe the requirements of HKAS
12 and ensure that the classication of current tax and deferred tax was in
accordance with HKAS 12.

Decision 3

Disclosure for various items

Issues
1. Improper disclosure relating to cash and bank balances.

2. Improper offset of value added tax (VAT) receivables against tax
payables.

Analysis

1. Deposits for letter of credit were disclosed as “cash at banks” in the
note to the financial statements. However, Accounting Subjects and
Treatments require these deposits to be disclosed as “others” in the
cash and bank balances.

2. VAT receivables were offset against tax payables. Clause no. 11 of
ASBE 30 Presentation of Financial Statements (ASBE 30) states
that assets and liabilities or income and expenses should not be
offset, unless required or permitted by other ASBEs. Therefore,
VAT receivables should be presented as assets in the financial
statements.

Decision

The company failed to fully comply with Accounting Subjects and
Treatments and ASBE 30. We issued a letter of advice to the company to
this effect.

Reminder

Management of listed entities should observe the requirements in
Accounting Subjects and Treatments and ASBE 30 when preparing their
financial statements, and ensure the consistency of information disclosed
within the financial statements.
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Decision 4
Inconsistency and ambiguity in auditor’s report

Issue

The auditor of the company expressed a qualified opinion on the relevant
financial statements. However, the matters giving rise to the qualified
opinion were described under the heading of “Basis for Disclaimer
Opinion”.

Analysis

The auditor explained that the matters giving rise to the qualified opinion
were material, but not pervasive, to the relevant financial statements,
therefore they expressed a qualified opinion in accordance with HKSA
705. It was due to “inadvertent typographical error’ that the heading
“Basis for Disclaimer Opinion” was used, instead of “Basis for Qualified
Opinion”, in the audit report.

Decision

We wrote to the auditor to highlight the inconsistency and ambiguity
as noted in the auditor’s report of the relevant financial statements and
reminded them to act diligently in future drafting of audit reports.
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HONORARY ADVISORY PANEL
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Honorary Advisory Panel is established to assist the FRC in discharging
its functions and responsibilities arising from or in relation to the Financial
Reporting Council Ordinance (Cap 588). The function of the Honorary
Advisers is to advise the FRC, including its committees and staff, with
respect to any matter referred to the Honorary Advisers by the FRC.

Panel Members

Mr Nicholas Allen

Mr Roger Best, JP'

Mr Clement Chan?®

Mr Stephen Chang?

Dr Moses Cheng, GBS, OBE, JP
Mr Chew Fook Aun?®

Mr Francis Ching?

Mr Eugene Fung, SC?

Mr Martin Hadaway, JP?
Dr PM Kam

Mr Edward Kwan, MH

Mr Anders Lau®

Mr Albert Li

Dr Eric Li, GBS, JP

Mr Tim Lui, BBS, JP

Ms Teresa Ma'

Mr Stephen Mercer®

Mr Kenneth Morrison?®

Mr Michael Scales

Mr John E Strickland, GBS, JP'
Mr Stephen Taylor

Mr Paul Winkelmann?®

Mr Huen Wong, BBS, JP?

' Appointed with effect from 15 January 2015.

2 Term expired on 10 December 2015.
3 Appointed with effect from 11 December 2015.
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MEMBERSHIP OF BOARD AND PANELS
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Financial Reporting Review Panel
Panel Convenors

Mr Robert Gazzi

Mr Andrew Mak, BBS, JP
Ms Catherine Morley

Ms Edith Shih

Dr Kelvin Wong, JP

Prof Wong Tak Jun

Members

Mr Jamie Allen

Prof Gary Biddle

Mr Albert Chan’

Mr Edmund Chan?

Ms Mabel Chan'’

Mr Morison Chan'’

Prof Kevin Chen'

Prof Cheng Cheng Shing?
Prof Peter Cheng

Ms Yvonne Cheng, SC?
Mr Ambrose Cheung, MH, JP
Ms Ivy Cheung

Mr Cheung Kwan Hoi
Mr Jackle Chiu?

Mr Mohan Datwani

Ms Ding Chen

Mr Vincent Duhamel
Mr lan Farrar

Ms Cindy Fu

Mr Eugene Fung, SC
Mr Tommy Fung?

Dr Look Guy?

Mr Paul Hebditch

Ms Joan Ho?

Ms Kelly Kong?

Mr Nelson Lam

Ms Rosita Lee

Mr Alden Leung’

Mr Andrew Leung, JP!
Ms Cynthia Lim

Mr William Lim

Prof Lin Zhijun'

Ms Alexandra Lo’

Mr Roy Lo?

Mr Bernard Mak?

Ms Agnes Nardi?

Mr Hong Ng

Ms Melissa Pang, MH, JP?
Mr Paul Phenix
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MEMBERSHIP OF BOARD AND PANELS (ontinueq)
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Mr Gary Poon'

Mr Paul Shieh, SC
Mr Hamilton Tang?
Ms Teo Chew Ping
Mr Tsui Hon Man?

Ms Anna Wong

Mr Wong Kim Man
Ms Priscilla Wong, JP
Mr Stephen Wong

Mr Thomas Wong

Ms Wendy Yuen?

Ms Wendy Yung

Prof Zhang Guo Chang?

T Term expired on 15 July 2015.
2 Appointed with effect from 16 July 2015.

Audit Investigation Board
Chairman
Mr Mark Dickens, JP (ex-officio)

Members

Mr TS Chan

Ms Wincey Lam
Ms Anna Lau

Ms Florence Wong
Ms Joyce Woo

Process Review Panel
Chairman
Mr Anthony Chow, SBS, JP

Members

Ms Florence Chan

Ms Angelina Kwan'

Mr Vincent Kwan

Prof Low Chee Keong

Mr Tse Kam Keung?

Dr John Poon, BBS, JP (ex-officio)

" Term expired on 31 December 2015.
2 Appointed with effect from 1 January 2016.
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